
Agenda for a meeting of the Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be 
held on Tuesday, 2 October 2018 at 5.30 pm in 
Committee Room 1 - City Hall, Bradford

Members of the Committee – Councillors
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT
GREEN

Heseltine
Whitaker

Jamil
Dodds
Berry
Mohammed
Nazir

Stubbs Love

Alternates:
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT
GREEN

Riaz
Whiteley

Amran
Iqbal
Johnson
H Khan
Salam

R Ahmed Warnes

NON VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS
Nicola Hoggart Environment Agency
Julia Pearson Bradford Environmental Forum

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed 

except if Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered 
by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be 
respectful to the conduct of the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such 
as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes 
to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact 
who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary arrangements are in place. 
Those present who are invited to make spoken contributions to the meeting should be 
aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the 
officer named at the foot of that agenda item.

From: To:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Asad Shah - 01274 432280
Phone: 01274 432280
E-Mail: asad.shah@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34)

The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.  

2.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

3.  MINUTES

Recommended –

That the minutes of the meetings held on 23 January and 13 April 
2018 be signed as correct records (previously circulated).

(Asad Shah – 01274 432280)



4.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Asad Shah - 01274 432280)

5.  REFERRALS TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Any referrals that have been made to this Committee up to and including 
the date of publication of this agenda will be reported at the meeting.

B. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTIVITIES

6.  IMPROVING HEALTH AND WELLBEING THROUGH GREEN 
SPACE AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

The report of the Strategic Director, Public Health and Wellbeing 
(Document “L”) provides an update on the use of green spaces in the 
District. This paperseeks to outline the current position, opportunities 
and challenges across the District.

Recommended –

The views of the Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the matters set out in the report are 
requested.

(Angela Hutton – 01274 437345)

1 - 18

7.  WATER MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY REVIEW - PROGRESS OF 
RECOMMENDATIONS

The Environment and Waste Management Overview Scrutiny 
Committee undertook a wider scrutiny review into water management 
across the District following the devastating winter 2015 floods. The 

19 - 74



Water Management Scrutiny Review was endorsed by the 
Environment and Waste Management Overview Scrutiny Committee at 
their meeting on 4 July 2017 where it was recommended to be 
considered by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee in their 
meeting on the 26 October 2017 where it was subsequently endorsed.

Following its adoption, The Water Management Scrutiny Review 
included twenty-six recommendations and it was resolved that a report 
would be made in twelve months which monitored progress against all 
the recommendations contained in the review. 

The report of the Strategic Director, Place (Document “M”) briefly 
outlines the progress made and the status of each of the twenty-six 
recommendations.

Recommended –

That Bradford Council’s Regeneration and Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee receives a report back before the end of 
October 2019 which monitors progress against the 
recommendations contained within the Water Management 
Scrutiny Review.

(Edward Norfolk – 01274 433905)

8.  IMPACT OF CHANGES TO THE LIBRARY SERVICE OVER THE 
PAST TWO YEARS AND ROLE OF MUSEUMS & LIBRARIES IN 
BRADFORD'S COMMUNITIES

The report of the Strategic Director, Place (Document “N”) gives a 
description of changes to the operation of Bradford Museums & 
Libraries over recent years, with particular reference to community 
managed libraries.

Recommended –

That the Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee consider the contents of Document “N”.

(Maggie Pedley – 01274 432626)

75 - 120

9.  UPDATE ON THE COUNCIL'S INVOLVEMENT IN RESIDENTIAL 
HIGH RISE BUILDINGS FOLLOWING THE GRENFELL TOWER 
DISASTER

The report of the Strategic Director, Place (Document “O”) provides a 
further update for members of the Council’s involvement with high rise 
residential buildings following the Grenfell Tower disaster.

121 - 
126



Recommended –

That the Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee note the report and request a further update on the 
work relating to high rise residential buildings in 12 months.

(Justin Booth – 01274 434716)

10.  WASTE MANAGEMENT FINANCES

Following a referral from Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
the report of the Strategic Director, Place (Document “P”) sets out the 
background to the budget pressures being faced within waste 
management, the current overspend projections, and the actions 
planned to address and recover the position

Recommended –

(1) That Members consider the breadth and complexity of 
activities that go into delivering a comprehensive Waste 
Collection and Disposal service to the Bradford District.

(2) That Members consider the significant work that has been 
undertaken thus far to deliver and embed an Alternate 
Weekly Collection Service for residual and recycled 
materials.

(3) That Members recognise the efforts of households within 
the district who recycle as much as possible of their 
household waste and urges all households to redouble 
their efforts.

(4) That Members recognise that contamination of recyclates is 
an area that must improve and supports officers in 
undertaking all possible steps to support the public to 
recycle more whilst utilising appropriate enforcement 
where that is necessary. 

(5) That Members support officers in identifying and 
implementing options as quickly as possible to take the 
most cost effective control of the districts recyclates and 
reduce the pressures on the Councils Waste Budget.

 (John Major – 01274 434748)

127 - 
140



11.  REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PROGRAMME 2018-19

The report of the Chair of Regeneration and Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Document “Q”) includes the Regeneration 
and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programme 
for 2018/19.

Recommended –

(1) That members consider and comment on the areas of work 
included in the work programme.

(2) That members consider any detailed scrutiny reviews that 
they may wish to conduct.

 (Mustansir Butt – 01274 432119)

141 - 
156

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



 

1 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

 
 

Report of the Strategic Director of Health and 
Wellbeing to the meeting of the Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
be held on Tuesday 2

nd
 October 2018. 

 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Improving health and wellbeing through green space and green infrastructure 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
 This report provides an update on the use of green spaces in the District. This paper 
seeks to outline the current position, opportunities and challenges across the District. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Report Sponsor: Bev Maybury 
Strategic Director of Health and 
Wellbeing 

Portfolio:   
 
Cllr Sarah Ferriby (Environment, Sport and 
Culture, Health and Wellbeing) 
 
 

Report Contact: Angela Hutton  
Programme Manager – Health and 
Wellbeing  
Phone: (01274) 437345 
E-mail: 
angela.hutton@bradford.gov.uk 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
Regeneration and Environment  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6/



 

2 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This paper summarises evidence on the importance of green space to health and 

wellbeing, and health inequalities, building on previous Overview and Scrutiny reports. 
 
1.2 The paper revisits the definitions of green space and green infrastructure and brings 

new information about work to map green spaces and assets in the District, and 
emerging evidence of how local communities make use of green space to maintain and 
improve health and wellbeing. 

 
1.3  Finally the paper invites discussion on how we might seek to increase and improve 

green assets for the District, particularly in areas where inequalities exist. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Updates to Overview and Scrutiny  
 
2.1.1 Recognising the importance of green spaces, and outdoor space more generally, to 
the health and wellbeing of populations, the Public Health Outcomes Framework includes 
a measure (indicator 1.16) of how many people in the District use outdoor space for 
exercise or health reasons. Prior updates on this indicator were received by the 
Environment and Waste Committee in 2015, 2016 and 2017.  The measure reports on the 
“proportion of residents in each local authority area making at least one visit to the natural 
environment for health or exercise purposes1”.  
 
2.1.2 This indicator has not been updated since 2017, when the data showed the 
percentage of people using outdoor space for exercise or health reasons in 2015-2016 
was 12.4% in Bradford. This was lower than the averages for England (17.9%) and 
Yorkshire and Humber (17.5%) for the same time period, but the gap appeared to be 
closing. This reported rate was based on a small local sample as part of a national survey.  
 
2.1.3 Another measure produced by the Woodland Trust shows that only 8% of people in 
the District have accessible woodland within 500 metres of their home, compared to 17% 
on average across England.  
 
2.1.4 The paper is returning to provide an update on recent larger-scale local research, 
and to address the concerns about unequal access to green space that were raised by the 
committee in 2017. 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1
 The natural environment is defined as: open spaces in and around towns and cities, parks, canals and 

nature areas; the coast and beaches; and the countryside including farmland, woodland, hills and rivers. The 
definition excludes time spent in domestic gardens and shopping trips. 

Page 2



 

3 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

2.2 Defining green space 
 
2.2.1 The 2017 paper (received September 26th) provided an overview of the use of 
outdoor space and green space in particular, and its significance for supporting health and 
wellbeing and reducing health inequalities. The report noted that ‘public space’, ‘open 
space’, ‘urban space’ and ‘green space’ are often used interchangeably.  
 
2.2.2 The term green space is used broadly in the paper to simplify a number of issues. It 
refers to both informal, publicly-accessible areas of green space such as parks, and 
smaller green areas that are not formally adopted as green space, also woodland and 
other natural environments such as moorland, on-street trees and planting, green roofs 
and walls and ‘blue’ areas such as lakes, ponds, canals and fountains. Farmland and 
moorland in the green belt is excluded although the paper discusses the role of rights of 
way to allow people to access greenbelt and open countryside.  
 
2.2.3 The 2018 National Planning Policy Framework lists green infrastructure as one of 
the elements that local strategic policies for sustainable development should address. It 
defines it as: 

 
“A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering 
a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.” (NPPF, 
2018:67). 
 
2.2.4 Reviews of local, national and international evidence show that people, particularly 
children, who live close to a traditional urban park are likely to experience higher wellbeing 
benefits than people who live close to open space in urban areas that has little or no 
greenery. New studies published this year, including local evidence from the Born in 
Bradford Programme have added to this evidence base. 
 
2.2.5 This year’s report will distinguish between green space and non-green space, 
however high in quality. It is important to acknowledge this difference because it can lead 
to a different sort of discussion, to consider where green space, green infrastructure and 
on-street greenery is lacking in urban areas, and how this might be addressed in a 
sustainable way, particularly as more housing is planned and delivered over the next few 
years.  
 
 
2.3 Strategic links  
 
2.3.1 The District Plan 2016-2020 highlights the District’s 36 parks as a key asset and 

investing further in green infrastructure is acknowledged as important to achieving a 
zero carbon economy. Improving quality and access to green space will enable 
more people to be active in everyday life and improving health and wellbeing of the 
whole population. This will contribute to several of the Plan’s outcomes including 
‘Better health, Better lives, ‘A great start and good schools for all our children’, and 
‘Safe, clean and active communities’.  

 
2.3.2 The District’s new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-2023: ‘Connecting 

People and Place’, recognises that the places where we live, learn, work and 
socialize shape our health and wellbeing. As such the strategy emphasises the 

Page 3



 

4 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

importance of tackling the wider determinants of health. Access to green space is a 
key measure of success of the strategy, linked to the outcome, ‘Bradford District is 
a healthy place to live, learn and work’.  

 
2.3.3 The strategy has two specific ambitions relating to green space, “People 
have access to green space and children have safe places to play outdoors”, and 
“New urban green space makes it easier to meet, play, connect to nature and be 
active.” These recognize the importance of outdoor play to children’s health and 
wellbeing, education and learning and the need for more equitable access to green 
space.  
 
2.3.4 The physical, mental wellbeing and social benefits of green space bring more 
opportunities for people to be active outdoors. This will contribute to all four 
outcomes of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and also support the strategic 
priorities of a wide range of other plans and strategies in Bradford District, including 
cross-cutting plans, and strategies that seek to improve mental health and 
wellbeing; to support families and promote children’s development and wellbeing, 
support people to be physically active, retain their independence to live at home for 
longer, and build a thriving economy. 

 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS  
 
 
3.1  The benefits of using outdoor space for health 
 
3.1.1 There is significant and growing evidence on the physical and mental health 

benefits of being active, particularly in outdoor space. A wide range of research 
shows that access to outdoor space is associated with better health and wellbeing 
outcomes, and that income-related inequality in health is less pronounced where 
people have access to outdoor space (Buck & Gregory, 2013). 

 
3.1.2 The additional benefits of access to high quality green space include: 

 

 Improved mental health and wellbeing for children, young people and adults  

 Increased likelihood of physical activity across all age groups 

 Reduced violence and aggression: a reduction in antisocial behaviour and 
incidence of crime in urban areas with green spaces 

 Reduced health inequalities: significant reductions in mortality and morbidity 
from all causes and circulatory disease are associated with areas of greater 
green space. This result takes into account the effects of income deprivation. 

 Increased levels of community activity and residents’ satisfaction 

 Improvement in air and noise quality and sustainability (increasing biodiversity, 
encouraging active transport) 

 Economic benefits      (Background documents 5 & 
8)  

 
3.1.3 Research by Public Health England and the London Institute of Health Equity 

(background document 3) has reported that: 
 

Page 4



 

5 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

 Access to outdoor space is not equal across the population of England. 
Research shows that people living in the most deprived areas are less likely to 
have access to green areas, and will therefore have less opportunity to gain the 
health benefits compared to people living in more affluent areas. 
 

 Increasing the use of good quality green space for all social groups (a universal 
approach) is likely to improve health outcomes and reduce inequalities.  

 

 Safe, green spaces can increase levels of communal activity across different 
social groups and increase residents’ satisfaction with their local area, bringing 
other benefits such as greater community cohesion and less social isolation. 

 
3.1.4  The significant decline in time spent outside for children and teenagers over a five-

year period was noted last year. This is concerning given the level of child obesity in 
the District and the association between time spent outside playing and increased  
physical activity levels, which help children to maintain healthy weight.  

 
3.1.5 The Born in Bradford Programme has published papers in 2018 that show positive 

links between health and wellbeing and green space. These show that easy access 
to green space has a positive impact on the wellbeing of pregnant women, and that 
the quality of local green space is important to parents of young children, and 
influences their decisions about making use of local green assets. 

 
3.1.6 People are more likely to use green space if it is good quality, safe and easily 

accessible making it more likely that people will be physically active on a regular 
basis. Green space in itself is good for mental wellbeing and since last year’s report 
further studies supporting this have been published.  

 
 
3.2 Health inequalities and inequality of access to green space 
 
3.2.1 It can be hard to disentangle cause and effect in relation to green space and health 

and social inequalities. There is strong evidence that higher-deprivation areas have 
less green space, making it harder for people to experience the benefits associated 
with regular and easy access. However, people living in urban areas with high 
deprivation also have poorer health on average.  

 
3.2.2 Higher rates of common, preventable chronic diseases such as cardiovascular 

diseases, respiratory conditions and higher rates of early (under 75) death reflect 
the impact of multiple factors on people’s wellbeing in low-income urban areas.  
These factors will include poor-quality housing, higher than average unemployment, 
poorer air quality and lower average incomes, as well as reduced access to green 
space. 

 
3.2.3 Evidence shows that easy access to high-quality green space can help to reduce 

health inequalities, social isolation and ‘incivilities’, helping to improve both physical 
and mental wellbeing.  

 
3.2.4 Access to green space is not equally distributed across the District, there is more 

green space in the north and west of the District, providing residents with accessible 

Page 5



 

6 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

places to walk and be active, close to home. Map 1 in Appendix shows where in the 
District people live close to green space and where there is no reasonably sized 
park within 300 metres of a park. Map 2 shows the 10% most deprived and 10% 
least deprived areas of the District for comparison. 
 

3.2.5 The maps show that safe, accessible green space is less easy to access in parts of 
Bradford City and the south of the District, and in areas of Keighley (north side of 
A629), Silsden, along the A65 and in pockets around Wilsden, Queensbury and 
Menston. This inequality will have greater impact in areas of low-income and high-
density, terraced housing without private gardens, where there are fewer 
opportunities for children to play outdoors. 
 

3.2.6 Whilst some of these areas border open countryside, people’s perceptions of 
whether space is accessible and useable for their preferred purpose will affect 
whether they are willing to use open countryside for leisure. For example farmland 
crossed by rights of way is accessible for walking, but is not suitable for children to 
run around and play in. Different forms of green space and natural environments 
provide different opportunities.  
 

3.2.7 A national survey of how people engage with natural environments2 showed that 
only 40% of urban residents visited the natural environment in the week before the 
survey. Younger people, people from Black and Minority Ethnic communities, 
people without access to a car and people with children were all more likely to visit 
urban green spaces, rather than natural places further afield. This adds weight to 
the evidence that living close to green space is important to people, and for many 
people it provides the main place that they spend leisure time outdoors.  
Accessible, affordable public transport is likely to be an important factor in enabling 
people who do not have a car to benefit from larger areas of green space and a 
wider range of natural environments.  
 

3.2.8 On-going management and maintenance of land is important to keeping it useable 
over the long-term.  The Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment 
(CABE, 2010) found that even where green space is plentiful in urban areas and on 
housing developments it can be under-used where people feel that it is unsafe, of 
poor quality or poorly-maintained. Data from the MENE survey from more 
vulnerable groups of people and people in more deprived areas confirms this 
finding. 

 
 
3.3 Making green space easily accessible to all  

 
3.3.1 Green spaces and natural environments need to be safe, and perceived as safe, 

accessible and well-maintained in order that people will make regular use of them. 
These factors may mean that some green space in the District could be an under-
used asset for wellbeing, and that local communities are the key to unlocking its 
potential. 
 

                                                 
2
 The Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment (MENE) survey. 

Page 6



 

7 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

3.3.2 Community engagement work carried out by the Better Start Programme (reported 
in the 2017 update) has highlighted some of the barriers that people felt prevented 
them from making use of open and green space. These included safety, distance to 
parks and uncertainty about whether smaller areas of open ground are intended for 
public use. The Council’s Landscape Team has produced detailed maps of land 
use in the Better Start area, reported below (section 3.4). This information, together 
with the detailed mapping will facilitate work with communities to address barriers to 
accessing green space. 

 
3.3.3 Further local research published in 2018 confirms that Bradford follows the national 

and international picture that people living in more deprived urban neighbourhoods 
tend to experience a poorer standard of built and natural environmental conditions 
compared to people living in more affluent areas. Higher income areas of Bradford 
District, and areas with a higher density white population are recognised as having 
more accessible green space (including open countryside). A difference from the 
national picture is that in Bradford City the density of street trees is greater in areas 
of higher-deprivation and in areas with a higher Asian/Asian British population. 

 
3.3.4 The study concludes that publicly accessible, urban green infrastructure offers the 

best opportunity to address needs and has the potential to mitigate the worst health 
inequalities on a large scale, and that multiple smaller, green spaces across a 
larger number of areas would reach a larger number of people than a single large 
park.  
 

3.3.5 Draft standards developed in Bristol set out maximum recommended walking 
distances to a range of outdoor amenities. They are not legally binding but worth 
considering given that they are evidence based: 

 
o the nearest green space – 400m/nine minutes’ walk 
o children’s play space – 450m/10 minutes’ walk 
o formal green space – 600m/15 minutes’ walk 
o informal green space – 550m/13 minutes’ walk 
o natural green space – 700m/18 minutes’ walk 

 
3.3.5 A 2017 evidence review for the World Health Organization found promising 

evidence for benefits from:  
 
1. Park-based interventions that specifically combined a physical change to the 
green space and promotion/marketing programmes, particularly increased park use 
and physical activity; 
 
2. Interventions that involved greening of vacant space having health and well-
being benefits (reduction in stress) and social benefits (reduction in crime, 
increased perceptions of safety) benefits; 
 
3. Greening of urban streets resulting in environmental benefits (increased 
biodiversity, reduced air pollution, reduction in illegal dumping); 
 
4. Green infrastructure helping to manage storm water impacts in urban and 
suburban areas.              (Hunter and colleagues, 2017) 

Page 7



 

8 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

 
 
3.3.6 The District’s rural areas provide further opportunities for public enjoyment of open 

space – for physical and mental health benefits and recreational activity. They are a 
major asset for the District and are mainly accessed through 1000 kilometres of 
public rights of way, forming a network which links urban and rural areas of the 
District.  Rights of way can also provide valuable access links within urban areas, 
often away from traffic and so can assist with safety, health and air quality.  Rights 
of way can help people to parts of the District where some of our most attractive 
landscapes are to be found, linking more people to them. Safe, affordable, 
accessible travel enables people to visit natural environments that they might not 
otherwise be able to reach. 
 

 
3.4 Detailed local mapping of access to green space  
 
3.4.1 Detailed maps produced by the Council’s Landscape Team for Better Start Bradford 

show land use in the Better Start area. These show green space and green assets 
down to the level of grass verges and also pockets of unused open and brownfield 
space. The aim of local mapping can be twofold: to understand our green space 
assets; and to build awareness of potential opportunities to improve and bring 
unused land into use as community-oriented green space, where resources permit.  
 

3.4.2 The maps also show the location of play areas and equipped play parks showing 
the recommended maximum walking distances - 100m to a local area for play,  
400m to equipped play parks3.  

 
3.4.3 Major roads between residential areas and local green spaces and play parks can 

also be highlighted, as these can form barriers to pedestrian access, encouraging 
people to drive rather than walk to parks and green space, particularly if the location 
of crossing points means that the direct pedestrian route is perceived as unsafe. 

 
3.4.4 Detailed local mapping of the distribution of green space provides valuable 

information that can be used to inform decisions about where to prioritise and how 
to use scarce resources. It could be useful to map further areas of the District, for 
example other wards with high deprivation, child poverty and poor child health.   

 
 
3.5 How are we using outdoor and green space for health reasons across 
Bradford District? 
 
The wide and varied network of voluntary clubs and associations that support team and 
individual sports for thousands of children and adult residents groups are at the heart of a 
huge amount of current outdoor activity on sports grounds, in parks and in our natural 
environment. These, together with the walking, cycling and running groups and clubs, 
allotment and gardening societies, environmental groups, school extra-curricular clubs, 
community groups are too numerous to list and so can be overlooked. These groups are 

                                                 
3
 These are the distances recommended by Fields in Trust. 

Page 8



 

9 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

active year round, week in, week out, and much of what they do takes place outdoors, 
making a huge contribution to public health and wellbeing. 
 

 
3.5.1 Local outdoor and green space assets being used for health and wellbeing: 
 

o Cycling 4 all initiative in Lister Park (for students and the public) 

o Bradford park runs in Lister Park and Horton Park, junior park run in Roberts 

Park (free weekly events where participants run 5k) 

o Walking groups (e.g. dementia friendly walks, voluntary walking groups in parks) 

o Daily Mile (daily 15 minute walk for children in 37 participating schools) 

o Bradford City Runs (take place in the Autumn) 

o Cycle Super Highway (between Bradford & Leeds) 

o Green Line Mile routes (four available, with a fifth in development) 

o Active Travel to School Programme provided by Sustrans (the programme 

works with schools and children on walking, cycling and scooting) 

o Grange Interlink, Thornbury Centre and Keighley Healthy Living Centre provide 

programmes to increase physical activity, an important element of this is utilising 

green space and encouraging walking and cycling 

o HAPP (Healthy Active Play Partners) for families with overweight children aged 

5-11, many of the opportunities that families are encouraged to take up are 

outdoor programmes, using their local park and play pods 

o Community allotments  

o Park gyms (e.g. Bowling Park, Lund Park and White Bear Recreation Ground) 

o Children’s Play Areas total 292 facilities over 163 sites. These include fixed play 

areas, MUGA’s, skateparks, gyms and trim trails. 

o Bradford City Cycling mass participation event (takes place in summer)  

o HSBC Lets Ride and Social Ride Programme (in partnership with British 

Cycling)  

o The District’s outdoor centres provide a range of daytime and residential outdoor 

activities experiences for children and young people, including accessible 

activities and residential provision at Nell Bank, within the District and the 

chance to venture further afield through provision in the Yorkshire Dales.  

o The Trees and Woodlands Service manage 590 Hectares of woodland across 

the district, to create high quality, sustainable publicly accessible woodland  for 

Page 9



 

10 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

everyone to enjoy, supporting health  and improving quality of life. This resource 

is a sustainable, environmental, economic and social resource for the district 

now and for future generations. 

 
3.5.2 Recent initiatives or events include: 
 

o Better Start’s ‘Big Play event’ in Parkside Park, summer 2018. 

o The youth service summer programme, including outdoor activities in parks and 

natural environments around the District. 

o The Women’s and Children’s Cycling initiative in Lister Park provides inclusive 

cycling for inactive women & girls particularly from BAME communities that have a 

long term health condition or disability. 374 individual participants have taken part to 

date, 163 of whom had previously been inactive. 

o The Outdoor Activity Programme for Families focuses on inactive families from 

Manningham, Holmewood and Keighley. It has engaged 193 people over a 2 year 

period, 135 of whom had never considered outdoor activity previously. The 

programme includes outdoor activities - climbing, kayaking and forest and 

community integration activities at Doe Park, Ilkley Cow and Calf rocks and Herd 

Farm Activity centre.  

o New ‘Play Streets’ guidance (currently at final draft stage) will support communities 

to organise local ‘play street’ days. This will help to address research from Play 

England which highlighted that temporary road closures helped children to meet the 

daily target of 60 minutes moderate to vigorous physical activity. This is likely to be 

particularly important in areas that currently have limited access to green space.  

o Local Plan Allocations work is currently reviewing the mapping of existing green 

space and then looking at future provision. This will develop the spatial picture 

following the strategic policies in the adopted Core Strategy. 

o Public Health have led a comprehensive review of the evidence on what makes a 

healthy place, including the role of green space. This has gathered learning from 

innovation in the UK, and in other global cities and urban Districts to develop 10 

principles for planning a healthy place (in draft). These will support work to ensure 

that the development of a housing design guide for the District, and a Top of Town 

Masterplan will support people’s health and wellbeing. 

Page 10



 

11 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

o The Parks and Greenspaces Service is currently preparing a Playing Pitch Strategy 

(PPS) to evidence current and future need enabling the District to ensure it has 

sufficient playing fields to meet current and future needs for local areas and  

communities. The PPS will support  District Plan outcomes and the Active Bradford 

strategy which include the relevant sporting strategies for the district including the 

Physical activity and Sport Strategic Framework for the District. 

o A joint project “Inspiring People” with the Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, provides a project 

officer to work in urban nature areas in Oakenshaw, Great Horton and Buttershaw, 

to encourage local communities to use and value these spaces and look after 

them.  There have been a number of successful events, using play, nature 

conservation, and the arts as themes to get local people involved, providing 

valuable insight in how to make these sites more inviting and accessible.  

 
 
3.5.3 Upcoming opportunities to extend use of green space 
 

o As a Sport England pilot site for increasing levels of Physical Activity in England, 
the District has a major opportunity to link this work to increased levels of outdoor 
physical activity, and particularly with extended use of green space. One of the 
strongest messages of the World Health Organization review is that listening to 
communities is essential, to understand what prevents people being more 
physically active, and what could work for them, potentially by increasing the variety 
as well as number of opportunities for physical activity in parks and green spaces. 
 

o Two bids for external grant monies are being prepared by the department of Place: 
one to support the development and enhancement of green-blue infrastructure 
along the Canal Road corridor, and one to support improvements to Horton Park 
that would include flood management works as well as improving green space. The 
Horton Park bid is informed by community engagement work carried out by Born in 
Bradford.  

 
o The development of Forest schools in the District is helping very young children to 

connect with nature and spend more time outside.  
 

o Walking for Mental Health, in partnership with Sharing Voices has a new 
programme focused on engaging people with mental health from BAME 
communities by providing walks around accessible open spaces in Bradford 
including Lister Park, Bolton Abbey, Haworth. It has engaged 19 people to date. 
 

o The Healthy Bradford team, working in close partnership with the Self Care and 
Prevention Programme is establishing a programme of works to address the root 
causes of unhealthy lifestyle behaviours. The team will be promoting national health 
and wellbeing initiatives about getting outdoors and being active, including the 
message that 10 minutes brisk walking counts as exercise, and that one of the ‘Five 

Page 11



 

12 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

Ways to Wellbeing’ is to ‘be active’. Achievements to date include that pupils in 37 
schools across the District are now doing the Daily Mile. 

 
o ‘Social prescribing’ of non-medical interventions could help to link more people to  

green and active community ‘wellbeing’ groups, helping to get people who need 
support to improve their wellbeing to be outdoors and active.   

 
o New urban residential and commercial developments are likely to bring both 

challenge and opportunity to include green space or green elements on-site to 
support the health and wellbeing of residents and staff. Development of the 
District’s first Housing Design Guide and a Masterplan for the Top of Town will 
provide guidance on inclusion of green space.  
 

o Born in Bradford will be involved in development of the Top of Town Masterplan, 
working with local children and young people to ensure that their views and 
experiences are heard and that the Masterplan will support their health and 
wellbeing.   
 
 

3.6 Summary – key lessons from the evidence 
 
 
 
3.6.1 Bradford District is no different to other areas in that people living in some of our 
most deprived communities have less access to green space. 
 
3.6.2 With excellent access to green space and open countryside in some parts of the 
District, and large, high quality green spaces and parks in some urban areas there is an 
argument for focusing on the areas where green space is lacking, whilst seeking to 
maintain and increase access to existing green space amenities by a wider range of 
people. This would help to reduce inequalities and improve wellbeing. 
  
3.6.3 The quality and perceived safety of green space is absolutely key to whether or not 
people are happy to use it, meaning that some areas of green space are likely to be 
under-used and the public may not be getting the maximum benefit from them.   
 
3.6.4 The most valued, and most sustainable initiatives tend to be those where local 
people are involved in prioritising, planning and delivering projects, making it more likely 
that limited resources are used effectively, in ways that communities welcome, support 
and will make use of. 
 
3.6.5 Refurbishment of under-used green space alone may not be enough to increase 
usage, well-targeted advertising and specific events help to encourage people to come 
into green-spaces. This is particularly likely for green space that does not have a clear, 
current purpose or is perceived as unattractive or unsafe.  
 
3.6.6 Integrating the approach to green and outdoor space with urban development, 
travel and infrastructure projects, such as flood management projects can help to identify 
opportunities to develop new green and outdoor space for leisure and exercise, but should 
meet community needs and seek their support. An integrated approach can also help to 

Page 12



 

13 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

remove barriers to access such as poorly sited crossing places which discourage people 
from walking to outdoor leisure destinations. 
 
3.6.7 If financial constraints limit or delay our ambition to create or refurbish areas of 
green space where it is lacking, the evidence supports the value of undertaking smaller 
scale, community-led initiatives. These could include collaborations between communities 
and local businesses to support schemes through commitment of materials or staff time to 
work alongside local residents.  
 
3.6.8 These should be devised by and with communities, and could include initiatives to 
plant and maintain greenery to soften urban streets and hard-landscaped open spaces or 
to bring small areas of unused urban space into community use and to decide a clear 
purpose for them, perhaps as ‘micro-parks’ or ‘parklets’ in areas where green space is 
lacking. 
 
3.6.9 Play spaces that include natural elements as well as conventional and accessible 
play park equipment can encourage children to play actively and creatively, children are 
creative and can make play opportunities from basic materials, in all sorts of settings as 
long as the spaces are safe and the adults who care for them perceive them to be safe.  
 
. 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 Tackling public health issues requires long term commitment and investment. Much 

of this already exists and is directed towards activity which will positively influence 
this indicator. This includes Council investment as well as external funding from 
central government departments. Additional resource is likely to rely on external 
funding. Green space is listed as a matter that local authorities are able to fund 
through Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106 monies.  

 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 None 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
6.1 Part 1 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (the Act) places legal responsibility 

for Public Health within Bradford Council. Specifically Section 12 of the Act created 
a new duty requiring Local Authorities to take such steps as they consider 
appropriate to improve the health of the people in its area. The Public Health 
department in the Local Authority supports the performance of this duty. 

 
6.2 Section 31 of the Act required Local Authorities to pay regards to guidance issued 

by the Secretary of State for Health when exercising their public health functions 
and in particular Local Authorities are required to have regard to the Department of 
Health’s Public Health Outcomes Framework. 

 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 13



 

14 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 
7.11 Access to outdoor space is not equal across the population of England. National 

research shows that people living in the most deprived areas and that people of 
Black and Minority Ethnic origin on average are less likely to have access to green 
areas, and therefore less opportunity to gain the health benefits compared to 
people living in more affluent areas. Local research cited in this report largely 
confirms this picture for Bradford District, with less accessible green space in less-
affluent areas and areas with a higher Asian/Asian British population. 

 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.21 Protection and maintenance of green infrastructure will be important for future 

residents of the District. Demographic, environmental and economic pressures are 
liable to persist into the mid 21st Century. The report highlights the need to 
recognise the contribution of green spaces for health outcomes. A sustainability 
oriented policy approach will ensure that green space is safeguarded for future 
generations. Green space is being increasingly seen as an important protective and 
resilient infrastructure to buffer populations against climate impacts. Its value will 
increase as climate impacts worsen.  

 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 
7.31 Actions to improve utilisation of green spaces may reduce greenhouse gas 

emissions. Active travel is a low cost abatement option which, if effective could 
significantly reduce green house gas emissions. Local environmental improvement 
and social activity to increase active travel are intrinsic to this approach. More 
broadly, green house gases are embedded in natural assets and degradation of 
these assets will also result in emissions. 

 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.41 In broad terms, perception of safety and security within residential and community 

environments can be influenced by proximity and access to good quality green 
space.  It is important that people feel safe in their local green spaces, this is 
integral to communities’ willingness to use local green assets and to allow children 
to use them.  

 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
7.51 None 
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 
7.61 None 
 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.71 PHOF indicators are complex and are influenced by differences in economic, 

cultural and social factors across populations and communities. Across the 30 

Page 14



 

15 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

wards of Bradford, achievement against each of the indicators will vary 
substantially. Further mapping of green infrastructure by ward would add to the 
current picture of assets and equality of access. 

 
7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS  

(For reports to Area Committees only) 
 
7.81 None 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
8.1 None 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
9.1 None provided 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 The views of the Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on the matters set out in the report are requested. 
 
11. APPENDICES 
 
11.1 Map 1: Accessible Natural Green Space Standards (ANGSt) applied across 

Bradford District (Natural England). 
Map 2: Index of Deprivation 2015 – Bradford District. 

 
 12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

1. South and colleagues, Effect of greening vacant land on mental-health of 
community-dwelling adults. JAMA Network Open. 2018;1(3):e180298. 
doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0298 

2. Public Health England and UCL Institute of Health Equity, Health Equity 
Evidence Review 8 (September 2014) “Local action on health inequalities: 
improving access to green spaces”. London:PHE:UCL. 

3. Faculty of Public Health, briefing statement “Great Outdoors: How Our Natural 
Health Service Uses Green Space to Improve Wellbeing”, 2010 

4. Cleland and colleagues, Predictors of time spent outdoors among children: 5-
year longitudinal findings, Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, Vol 
64, Issue 5. 

5. McEachan RRC, Prady SL, Smith G, and colleagues. The association 
between green space and depressive symptoms in pregnant women: 
moderating roles of socioeconomic status and physical activity. J 
Epidemiol Community Health 2016;70:253-259. 

6. McEachan, RRC, Yang, TC, Roberts, H., Pickett, K and colleagues. 
Availability, use of, and satisfaction with green space, and children’s 
mental wellbeing at age 4 years in a multicultural, deprived, urban area: 

Page 15



 

16 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

results from the Born in Bradford  cohort study. Lancet Planet Health, 
2:e244-54. 

7. Planning for a Multifunctional Green Infrastructure Framework in 
Worcestershire. Green Infrastructure Framework 4.Socio-economic Benefits of 
Green Infrastructure.  

8. World Health Organization (2016) Urban green spaces and health. A review of 
evidence. WHO:Geneva. 
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-
health/publications/2016/urban-green-spaces-and-health-a-review-of-evidence-
2016  

9. Hunter and colleagues for World Health Organization (2017) Urban green 
space interventions and health. A review of impacts and effectiveness. 
WHO:Geneva.  
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-
health/publications/2017/urban-green-space-interventions-and-health-a-review-
of-impacts-and-effectiveness.-full-report-2017  

10. Ferguson,M., Roberts,H.E. McEachan,R.C., Dallimer, M. Contrasting 
distributions of urban green infrastructure across social and ethno-racial groups, 
Landscape and Urban Planning, 2018, Vol. 175: 136-148. 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204618300951 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 16

http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/publications/2016/urban-green-spaces-and-health-a-review-of-evidence-2016
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/publications/2016/urban-green-spaces-and-health-a-review-of-evidence-2016
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/publications/2016/urban-green-spaces-and-health-a-review-of-evidence-2016
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/publications/2017/urban-green-space-interventions-and-health-a-review-of-impacts-and-effectiveness.-full-report-2017
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/publications/2017/urban-green-space-interventions-and-health-a-review-of-impacts-and-effectiveness.-full-report-2017
http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/urban-health/publications/2017/urban-green-space-interventions-and-health-a-review-of-impacts-and-effectiveness.-full-report-2017
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204618300951


 

17 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 2018-10-02 

Map 1: Accessible Natural Green Space Standards (ANGSt)   Map 2: Index of Deprivation 2015 – Bradford District 
applied across Bradford District (Natural England)  

 
 
          Map 2 Key: Green, 10% least deprived. Red, 10% most deprived. 
Map 1 Key:         
Green areas: a range of green spaces such as parks are easily   
accessible:, Ilkley, Bingley, Baildon, Shipley, parts of south-east 
Bradford. 
Yellow/orange/red:  no reasonably sized park within 300 metres:  
large parts of Bradford City, Keighley, Cottingley,  Wilsden,  
Denholme, Queensbury, parts of Thornton, Clayton,  
Silsden, Menston, south-east Bradford. 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of the Strategic Director of Place to the me eting 
of Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to be held on 02 nd October 2018 

M 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Water Management Scrutiny Review- Progress of Recommendations  
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
The Environment and Waste Management Overview Scrutiny Committee undertook a 
wider scrutiny review into water management across the District following the devastating 
winter 2015 floods. The Water Management Scrutiny Review was endorsed by the 
Environment and Waste Management Overview Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 
4th July 2017 where it was recommended to be considered by the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in their meeting on the 26th October 2017 where it was subsequently 
endorsed. 
 
Following its adoption, The Water Management Scrutiny Review included twenty-six 
recommendations and it was resolved that a report would be made in twelve months which 
monitored progress against all the recommendations contained in the review. 
 
This report briefly outlines the progress made and the status of each of the twenty-six 
recommendations. 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Strategic Director:  
 
Steve Hartley 
Strategic Director of Place 
 

Portfolio:   
 
Planning, Transportation and Highways 
 

Report Contact:  
 
Edward Norfolk  
Principal Drainage Engineer         
Phone: (01274) 433905 
E-mail: edward.norfolk@bradford.gov.uk 

Overview &  Scrutiny Area:  
 
Regeneration and Environment 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7/



1. SUMMARY 
 
The Environment and Waste Management Overview Scrutiny Committee undertook a 
wider scrutiny review into water management across the District following the devastating 
winter 2015 floods. The Water Management Scrutiny Review was endorsed by the 
Environment and Waste Management Overview Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 
4th July 2017 where it was recommended to be considered by the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in their meeting on the 26th October 2017.  
 
Following its adoption, The Water Management Scrutiny Review included twenty-six 
recommendations and it was resolved that a report would be made in twelve months which 
monitored progress against all the recommendations contained in the review. 
 
This report briefly outlines the progress made and the status of each of the twenty-six 
recommendations. 
 
 
2. BACKGROUND  
 
The floods of December 2015 inundated over 1,000 homes and businesses across a wide 
swathe of Bradford District and turned the lives of many hundreds of local people upside 
down. The cost of the damage to residential and commercial property is estimated to have 
been around £34 million. The broader social, environmental and economic impacts were 
even greater in scope as residents struggled to cope with the upheaval to their everyday 
lives through the months that followed.  
 
At its meeting on Tuesday 19 January 2016, Bradford Council agreed that the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee undertake an in-depth scrutiny review of the 
effectiveness of the Council and its Partners in dealing with the District-wide flooding of 
December 2015. 
 
Following discussions with Councillors and Officers, it was also agreed that water 
management across the District should be looked at and that the Environment and 
Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee should undertake that scrutiny 
review. 
 
The Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed 
its terms of reference for this scrutiny review in April 2016. Specifically, the committee 
resolved to investigate six key lines of enquiry: 
 
1) examine the policies that impact on either the mitigation of flood risk or contribute to 
that risk; 
2) identify potential sources of funding and other resources that could assist in reducing 
the risk and impact of flooding; 
3) develop an action plan to reduce the risk and impact of flooding and use in response 
to any future incidents; 
4) consider future climate change assumptions and their impact on the frequency and 
severity of flooding incidents; 
5) consider measures which could be taken to reduce the rate of water runoff into the 
river system; 
6) consider the effect of increased flooding risk on proposed development and the effect 

Page 20



of proposed and possible future development on run off and flooding risk. 1 

 
As a result of the review, The Environment and Waste Management Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee made a total of 26 recommendations for consideration by colleagues. 
Some of these recommendations are closely linked with each other. The progress made 
over the previous 12 months on each recommendation under each of the 6 key lines of 
enquiry is detailed below; 
 
Key Line of Enquiry 1 
Examine the policies that impact on either the miti gation of flood risk or contribute 
to that risk . 
 
Recommendation 1 (mirrors Recommendation 16) 
That the Council liaises closely with partner city region authorities to finalise 
supplementary planning guidance as soon as possible , and that officers quickly 
finalise a date by when these documents will be pub lished. 
 
The potential to produce Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to be adopted by 
Leeds City Region Authorities is a complex matter and has been explored with Heads of 
Planning and Flood Risk Managers within the city region. However, it has been recognised 
that a joint SPD is not the preferred approach as all authorities have differing requirements 
relating to SUDS. For example, some authorities would prefer to integrate SUDS 
requirements into other policy documentation rather than adopt a stand-alone SPD. 
 
Consequently, it was recommended, and subsequently agreed, at the Leeds City Region 
Chief Executive’s Meeting on 19 July 2018 to endorse the proposal to update the current 
SUDS guidance [on a City Region scale] rather than a City Region SPD. It was agreed 
that Heads of Planning will oversee work to update this document. This approach was 
subsequently endorsed by West Yorkshire Chief Highway Officers at the Senior Flood 
Officers Group. 
 
The first draft of the updated guidance to be completed by October/November 2018, prior 
to being circulated for comment by the West Yorkshire Development Management Leads 
followed by Chief Highway Officers and Heads of Planning. 
 
Recommendation 2 
That the Council continues to review the developmen t of its ‘register of structures 
or features that affect flood risk’. 
 
It is a statutory requirement of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 that the 
Council under their role as Lead Local Flood Authority maintain a register of structures that 
affect flood risk. The Council continue to maintain the register but also identify new assets, 
that are added to the register, through a range of investigatory measures.   
  
Recommendation 3 
That the Council urgently reviews its default polic y of non-inspection of the 
sustainable urban drainage features and flood risk aspects of completed 
developments, particularly in relation to larger pr ojects and including SUDS 
already installed to date, in order to ensure that these developments are 
consistent with our LFRMS; and that the cost of doi ng so is borne as far as is 
practicable by the developer. 

Page 21



 
The Council through its role as Lead Local Flood Authority undertake assessments of 
drainage design submissions as consultee to the planning process. On giving approval to 
a drainage design it is unlikely that the Lead Local Flood Authority will inspect the 
installation of the drainage system due to resource constraints within the service. On 
larger projects the majority of developments will seek to have the drainage infrastructure 
(Including SUDS in the form of underground storage pipes) adopted by the statutory 
sewerage undertaker, Yorkshire Water. In these instances, Yorkshire Water will inspect 
the installation of the drainage infrastructure. The Council will also inspect the installation 
of the system through the Highway Development Control Sections Clerk of Works, who will 
ensure the drainage infrastructure is installed satisfactorily as not to be detrimental to the 
structural integrity of the highway.  
 
The Council has committed to take on the maintenance of SUDS retention ponds at 
Manywells (Cullingworth), Black Dyke Mills (Queensbury) and Allerton Lane (Allerton) 
developments, however maintenance will not be undertaken until the developments have 
been completed and an initial 12-month maintenance period lapsed. The drainage 
infrastructure on these site have been inspected at relevant construction stages by the 
Lead Local Flood Authority. 
 
Recommendation 4 
That the Council reviews its engagement with commun ities with a view to 
ensuring that they are actively involved in the cre ation and maintenance of SUDS 
and other flood risk management projects. 
 
The Council is working with local groups and the Aire Rivers and Yorkshire Dales Rivers 
Trusts on the Aire and the Wharfe catchments to encourage community projects to provide 
local Flood Risk Management improvements.  It is proposed that community engagement, 
particularly around SUDs within individual properties and businesses will form a part of the 
Natural Flood Management Project on Backstone Beck. 
 
Further Local Levy funding (£25k total) has been approved by the Council’s Flood 
Programme Board for stewardship work and Flood Warning Service Awareness raising 
within the financial year 2017/ 2018 in the Worth valley.  Local Levy funding has also been 
secured (£20k) to support the work of the Addingham 4 Becks Groups in conjunction with 
the Dales Rivers Trust.  A pilot Natural Flood Management (NFM) project is being 
progressed on Harden Moor.  The project is funded by Leeds City Council and is one of 
five Aire catchment-wide projects being undertaken.  Volunteer days will be undertaken as 
part of the project.  This will provide people with a greater understanding of NFM and what 
the measures involve.  It will also give them an opportunity to do something to help 
mitigate against flood risk in their community.  A number of schools have been put forward 
to Yorkshire Water for consideration in their 'Soak it Up' programme which implements 
SUDS in schools.  
 
The Council are a key partner in the Interreg European Funded project BEGIN (Blue & 
Green Infrastructure through Social Innovation). The BEGIN project aims to deliver climate 
change adaptation and protection through the development of a blue green infrastructure 
project within the Shipley and Canal Road Corridor including innovative ways of involving 
local communities and groups in the design, delivery and ultimately the maintenance of the 
project. 
 

Page 22



 
Recommendation 5 
That the Council ensures that its flood risk manage ment strategy continues to 
balance the needs of the Aire and Wharfe valley cat chments . 
 
The Local Flood Risk Management Strategy is a strategic document to cover Bradford 
District and it's drainage catchments.  Objectives within the Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy are applicable to the whole of Bradford District and work is ongoing on both the 
Aire and Wharfe catchments.  Section 10 of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
(Wider Environmental Objectives) is being explored on both the Aire and Wharfe 
Catchments and the Backstone Beck catchment (a tributary of the River Wharfe in Ilkley) 
is to be subject to a £167k Natural Flood Management Project led by the Environment 
Agency and in conjunction with Bradford Council.  An outcome of this project would be the 
production of River stewardship, Natural Flood Management and SUDS advice sheets 
produced in partnership with the communities and applicable across Local Authorities 
along the river catchments. 
 
 
Key Line of Enquiry 2 
Identify potential sources of funding and other res ources that could assist in 
reducing the risk and impact of flooding. 
 
Recommendation 6 
That the Council reviews the potential for using fu nds from the Community 
Infrastructure Levy for flood alleviation measures.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 123 provides for the Council to set out a list of 
those projects or types of infrastructure that it intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly 
funded through the CIL.  Local Flood Risk Alleviation is listed as Environmental 
Improvements but only when the benefits are outside of a specific development.  Site 
specific flood mitigation measures will fall within site specific Section 106 agreements as 
opposed to CIL.  
 
Recommendation 7 
That the Council liaises with other West Yorkshire local authorities to secure 
funding from the Department of Transport’s National  Productivity Investment 
Fund . 
 
The Highways Department were successful in drawing down a total of £836k of funding 
from the Department of Transport’s National Productivity Investment 
Fund of which £550k was spent on local drainage infrastructure improvements in the year 
2017/ 18.  
 
Key Line of Enquiry 3 
Develop an action plan to reduce the risk and impac t of flooding and use in 
response to any future incidents 
 
Recommendation 8 
That the Council takes steps to ensure that the Env ironment Agency’s new climate 
change allowances are applied in the preparation of  the site allocations 
development plan to ensure that proper consideratio n is given to increased flood 

Page 23



vulnerability linked to climate change and that ide ntified sites are avoided where 
appropriate. 
 
The Council is undertaking an update to its Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) and 
this will inform the flood risk aspects and policies of the site allocations process. When 
updating the SFRA the latest climate change allowances will be used when identifying 
flood risk extents from all sources of flooding.  
 
Recommendation 9 
That the Council reviews the actions necessary for it to ensure that land required 
for current and future flood management is protecte d from development in order 
to mitigate the impacts of climate change. 
 
The Council is undertaking an update to its Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) and 
this will inform the flood risk aspects and policies of the site allocations process. When 
updating the SFRA the latest climate change allowances will be used when identifying and 
allocating land as functional floodplain. 
 
Recommendation 10 
That the Council reviews its record to date in enab ling community engagement 
around the challenges of water management and flood ing and explores the options 
for developing more resilient local networks in fut ure years. 
 
The Council have produced a flood information pack which includes a laminated leaflet 
providing advice on what to do when a local flood warning is in place, when flooding is 
happening and recovering from flooding. It also signposted to the Council’s website to 
provide advice on preparing for emergencies and developing a personal emergency plan. 
It also provided a list of all the important contacts with the telephone numbers for use in 
emergencies, including signing up to the flood alert system. 
 
The Council has been working extensively with Local Councils to voluntarily develop their 
Emergency and Flood plans. Such plans provide an agreed framework to work within, 
identify key local roles and responsibilities, identify known risks and hazards, identify 
vulnerable members of the community and provide valuable local information all in one 
place. 
 
Each Local Council engaged in the writing of plans has had the opportunity to look at their 
storage needs for locally based and maintained resources and address those individually. 
We are looking at a number of different solutions across the district each costing a similar 
amount but fulfilling a different need. Resources for communities have been identified, a 
list drawn up and a bid made to the Environment Agency was successful to finance this 
initiative. These resources have been purchased and have been distributed to Local 
Councils as and when they complete their plans. Flood Sacks have been purchased and 
are in storage at Stockbridge Depot for distribution as above. Radios similar to those used 
by Civil Enforcement Officers have been purchased and were made available to those 
communities as part of their Emergency and Flood plan response. 
 
Recommendation 11 
That the Council works closely with Yorkshire Water  to identify key places where 
surface water drainage problems exist in order to e nsure that its action-planning 
delivers early, tangible results for our community.  

Page 24



 
Yorkshire Water are a member of the Bradford Flood Programme Board and are 
represented within the various sub groups that develop the capital flood risk works 
programme and flood resilience initiatives. The Council have also worked in collaboration 
with Yorkshire Water and the Environment Agency to identify flood risk prone areas to be 
put forward for consideration in the PR 19 process.  
 
Recommendation 12 
That Yorkshire Water and the Environment Agency und ertake a full investigation 
of possible sewage-related pollution sources in the  Bradford Beck catchment in 
the next investment cycle (AMP7, which starts with PR19). 
 
Yorkshire Water will collaborate with Bradford Council, the Environment Agency and other 
key stakeholders, in a study for Bradford Beck and its tributaries from source to confluence 
with the River Aire.  The project is part of Yorkshire Waters business plan for AMP7 (2020 
to 2025) and so is in the very early stages of scoping and developing with the Environment 
Agency what will be required, and ultimately delivered from April 2020. 
 
Yorkshire Water also have a programme of works from 2015 to 2020 to deliver 100% 
event duration monitoring of waste water storm discharges across Yorkshire, the relevant 
data from which will inform the investigation into Bradford Beck. 
 
The Council are partners in the Interreg North Sea Region SCORE project that is a wide 
ranging smart cities project looking at using / reusing data and open data to provide 
efficiencies in public sector delivery. At the moment the Council are scoping monitoring 
devices and systems in order to determine pollution levels in watercourse such as 
Bradford Beck. 
 
 
Key Line of Enquiry 4 
Consider future climate change assumptions and thei r impact on the frequency and 
severity of flooding incidents. 
 
Recommendation 13 
That the Council urgently reviews both capital and revenue funding streams for 
maintaining council-owned drainage systems and wate rcourses/rivers in order to 
ensure that we deal with the rise in water flows an d levels associated with 
climate change. 
 
The Drainage Section do not receive capital funding to undertake maintenance works on 
council owned drainage infrastructure. The responsibility of drainage infrastructure will 
depend on which department or service manages the function of each individual asset. 
The Drainage Section is working with the Environment Agency, Yorkshire Water and other 
organisations to identify and progress flood risk schemes within their capital works 
programme to address property flooding, and is actively looking for match funding to 
reduce the pressure on existing drainage systems. The Councils Capital Flood Risk 
Programme is included within Appendix 1 for information. This shows where flood risk 
studies are been progressed in the district.  
 
The Highway Service manages a range of existing drainage infrastructure including assets 
such as the carrier drains that serve the highways, road gullies, road side ditches, 

Page 25



drainage outfalls, and culverted watercourses that pass under the highway. Various 
budgets are used to maintain these assets depending on which Highway Section has 
responsibility for them. These base budgets have decreased over the last few years due to 
the spending constraints the Council is facing. Some sections are reported to use revenue 
budget to undertake emergency maintenance projects however no capital budget is 
available to implement a periodic asset maintenance programme.  
 
With a reduction in base budgets for maintenance the Highways Service have applied for 
other funding streams that have been managed by the Department of Transport. In the 
year 2017/ 18 a total of £550k was drawn down from the National Productivity Investment 
Fund to spend on local drainage infrastructure improvements. Further funding was 
successfully granted from the Department of Transport for spending within the 2017/ 18 
and 2018/19 financial years. This funding was reference ‘Challenge Funding’ and has 
been spent and is allocated on required maintenance works on drainage infrastructure 
serving the major highway network providing much need network resilience. The 
maintenance works funding by these two funding streams would not have been 
undertaken within the base budget allocations. 
 
The Council continue to monitor the release of other relevant funding streams to be used 
for drainage maintenance works but at present no further funding streams have been 
released by the Department of Transport.  
 
 
Recommendation 14 
That the Council continues to update its LFRMS to t ake account of the 
disproportionate impacts that arise from the growin g risk of flooding events related 
to climate change. 
 
It is a legislative requirement to update the LFRMS in line with the current six-year cycle 
for flood risk management.  The LFRMS is up to date in accordance with current climate 
change guidelines but is a living document and will be reviewed accordingly. Specific 
actions (and examples of current working practice) within the LFRMS will be reviewed in 
the next update.  
 
Recommendation 15 
That the Council updates its LFRMS to incorporate t he development of ‘bottomup’ 
actions to support sustainable drainage, mitigate t he risk of flooding and 
enable communities to recover from flooding events.  
 
It is a legislative requirement to update the LFRMS in line with the current six-year cycle 
for flood risk management. Specific actions (and examples of current working practice) 
within the LFRMS will be reviewed in the next update.  
 
Key Line of Enquiry 5 
Consider measures which could be taken to reduce th e rate of water runoff into the 
river system. 
 
Recommendation 16 (mirrors Recommendation 1) 
That the Council publishes minimum design standards  (in the form of 
supplementary planning guidance) so that developers  and their consultants are 
clear on the standards required for acceptable plan ning applications in relation 

Page 26



to water runoff and sustainable urban drainage syst ems, and seeks to ensure 
that this process is completed by the end of April 2018. 
 
The potential to produce Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to be adopted by 
Leeds City Region Authorities is a complex matter and has been explored with Heads of 
Planning and Flood Risk Managers within the city region. However, it has been recognised 
that a joint SPD is not the preferred approach as all authorities have differing requirements 
relating to SUDS. For example, some authorities would prefer to integrate SUDS 
requirements into other policy documentation rather than adopt a stand-alone SPD. 
 
Consequently, it was recommended, and subsequently agreed, at the Leeds City Region 
Chief Executive’s Meeting on 19 July 2018 to endorse the proposal to update the current 
SUDS guidance [on a City Region scale] rather than a City Region SPD. It was agreed 
that Heads of Planning will oversee work to update this document. This approach was 
subsequently endorsed by West Yorkshire Chief Highway Officers at the Senior Flood 
Officers Group. 
 
The first draft of the updated guidance to be completed by October/November 2018, prior 
to being circulated for comment by the West Yorkshire Development Management Leads 
followed by Chief Highway Officers and Heads of Planning. 
 
Recommendation 17 
That the Council engages proactively with partner o rganisations to identify 
opportunities for additional Natural Flood Manageme nt projects across the 
District (such as in the Clayton Beck catchment). 
 
 
The Council are working with the Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme project team, in 
partnership with the Environment Agency, to develop a catchment wide approach to 
reducing flood risk. This includes natural flood management (NFM) measures on the upper 
and mid stretches of the River Aire as an integral part of phase 2 of the scheme. The 
scheme is idenitfying with landowners, which land is suitable for NFM measures.  Also as 
part of the scheme, potential areas have been identified and shared with partners and the 
Leeds FAS2 project team.   
 
A pilot NFM project is being progressed on Harden Moor where the Council are 
landowners and key partners in the design and delivery of the project.  
 
The Backstone Beck catchment (a tributary of the River Wharfe in Ilkley) is to be subject to 
a £167k Natural Flood Management Project led by the Environment Agency and in 
conjunction with Bradford Council.  An outcome of this project would be the production of 
River stewardship, Natural Flood Management and SUDS advice sheets produced in 
partnership with the communities and applicable across Local Authorities along the river 
catchments. 
 
 
 
Recommendation 18 
That the Council works jointly with Friends of Brad ford’s Becks on water 
management projects in the Canal Road area. 
 

Page 27



Friends of Bradford's Becks are engaged in the ongoing Shipley and Canal Rd Corridor 
Flood Risk Benefit Study and the Interreg North Sea Region IVB Project Blue Green 
Infrastructure through social Innovation (BEGIN). 
 
Furthermore, following the floods of Decemeber 2015 it was recognised that there was a 
need for a long term strategic approach to managing flood risk and associated 
envionmental impacts across the Bradford district. In idenitifying this need the Council 
worked with the Environment Agency to scope and develop a Bradford Flood Programme 
Board. The Board agreed that, alongside ongoing scheme development, it is a priority to 
focus on identifying and delivering cost-beneficial solutions to areas within the district that 
are at risk of flooding. The Programme Board were able to secure local levy funding to help 
deliver aspirations and some of this funding was allocated to the Friends of Bradfords 
Becks and the Aire Rivers Trust, to work in collarbation with the Council and other partners 
to undertake a River Stewardhip programme. The overall aim of River Stewardship for 
Bradford is to create a sustainable and active network of citizens looking after Bradford’s 
rivers, delivering activities including debris clearance, invasive species control, backside 
maintenance and riparian landowner engagement to support flood risk and resilience 
activities on behalf of the community. 
 
Recommendation 19 
That the Council works with partner organisations t o gather together existing 
knowledge and practice of Natural Flood Management in the form of a ‘best 
practice manual’ in order to engage the community a nd guide implementation of 
these kind of measures. 
 
The Council is currently working with other signatories of the White Rose Forest (WRF) to 
design the Harden Moor Pilot Natural Flood Management project and are part of the 
project team for the NFM scheme to be implemented on the Backstone Beck Tributary on 
Ilkley Moor. This is in the River Wharfe catchment.  The project in Ilkley has secured 
£167K of DEFRA NFM funding. The approaches we are looking to implement on the moor 
(slowing the flow, drainage reversal, sphagnum translocation, increasing tree cover and 
additional environmental benefits of increased biodiversity, active blanket bog 
management and re-wetting areas of the moor) are all replicable on other catchments in 
the District and beyond. These projects will help the Council broaden its knowledge and 
understanding of NFM and how the multiple measures can benefit the catchment by 
reducing water flows but also increase biodiversity and community engagement.   
 
A best practice manual in regards to Natural Flood Management has been put together by 
the Yorkshire Dales National Park and this is regular used by the Council in pursing NFM 
opportunities. A link to the guide is below; 
 
http://www.yorkshiredales.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/1010991/11301_flood_mana
gement_guide_WEBx.pdf 
 
 
Recommendation 20 
That the Council adopts a ‘whole catchment’ approac h to reducing water runoff, in 
conjunction with neighbouring local authorities (pa rticularly Leeds, but also those 
‘upstream’ of our District) and partner agencies . 
 

Page 28



The whole catchment approach is central to any schemes being discussed and funding 
bids are increasingly being submitted on a catchment-wide basis encompassing multiple 
projects through a number of local authority administrative areas. 
 
Recommendation 21 
That the Council incorporates the ‘Green Streets’ a pproach in its planning process 
and infrastructure development schemes. 
 
The Council are currently developing a ‘Housing Design Guide’ and ‘Street Design Guide’ 
that will emphasise the importance and specify the use of Blue Green Infrastructure and 
Green Street Initiatives within developments. These documents will be proposed for 
adoption as Supplementary Planning Documents in 2019.  
 
Recommendation 22 
That the Council identifies future opportunities wh ere it can show leadership in 
reducing and slowing water flow by its own actions,  such as in the road and cycle 
path engineering schemes that it designs and throug h its ongoing refurbishment of 
the Council estate (possible measures may include c ontrolling roof drainage by 
disconnecting building drains from the sewer system  and installing planters, 
soakaways and green roofs). 
 
The New Line and Hard Ings junction schemes incorporate measures to reduce quantities 
of surface water runoff from the new carriageway through the use of SuDS.  Also a 
recently constructed highway scheme on North Street in Keighley has also incorporated a 
bioretention scheme as opposed to the traditional road gully system to reduce the rate of 
surface water runoff whilst also improving the water discharge quality.  
 
Recommendation 23 
That the Council considers either (a) signing up to  the ‘Blue and Green 
Infrastructure’ declaration issued by Newcastle Cit y Council and five partner 
agencies in February 2016 or (b) issuing its own de claration in order to aid the 
prioritisation of Blue-Green infrastructure in mana ging flood risk across Bradford 
District. 
 
The Council have been successful in a funding bid to the EU North Sea Interreg Vb 
programme project BEGIN (Blue / Green infrastructure through social innovation) which 
was approved in early September 2016 to EU North Sea Region Secretariat; The Lead 
Partner being the Municipality of Dordrecht in the Netherlands. The scheme is progressing 
and will help support the aspirations of the Councils Green Infrastructure Study. The 
emerging approach in respect of Green Infrastructure and flood risk is based on the 
creation of a Linear Park along the length of Bradford Beck, restoring the natural character 
of the beck, retaining areas of natural floodplain, introducing new areas and enhancing 
existing areas of greenspace whilst incorporating sustainable drainage within new 
developments. The BEGIN projects also aims to engage with communities to increase 
awareness of the Beck and its catchment. 
 
 
 
Recommendation 24 
That the Council investigates what more it can do t o promote community and 
individual awareness of what can be done locally to  reduce water runoff and 

Page 29



flooding risk. 
 
See Recommendation 4 & 5.  All community engagement is covering all aspects of Flood 
and Water Management from awareness raising to river stewardship and riparian and 
individual citizen responsibilities. 
 
 
Key Line of Enquiry 6 
Consider the effect of increased flooding risk on p roposed development and the 
effect of proposed and possible future development on run off and flooding risk. 
 
Recommendation 25 
That the Council incorporates sustainable urban dra inage messages and policies 
into its broader community engagement, such as the benefits of permeable 
driveways, along the lines of the Ten Point Plan pr oduced by Friends of 
Bradford’s Becks. 
 
See Recommendation 4 & 5.  All community engagement is covering all aspects of Flood 
and Water Management from awareness raising to river stewardship and riparian and 
individual citizen responsibilities. 
 
 
Recommendation 26 
That Bradford Council’s Environment and Waste Manag ement Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee receives a report back before th e end of April 2018 which 
monitors progress against all the recommendations c ontained within this scrutiny 
review. 
 
This report covers the progress made on each recommendation 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

None 
 
 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL  
 

Recommendations 6 and 7 of the adopted Water Management Scrutiny Review 
relate to the potential for using funds from the Community Infrastructure Levy for 
flood alleviation measures, and for Bradford Council to liaise with other West 
Yorkshire local authorities to secure funding from the Department of Transport’s 
National Productivity Investment Fund. Recommendation 13 asks for an urgent 
review of capital and revenue funding streams for maintaining council-owned 
drainage systems and watercourses/rivers in order to respond effectively to the rise 
in river flows and levels associated with climate change. 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
 If there are no significant risks arising out of the implementation of the proposed 

recommendations it should be stated but only on advice of the Assistant Director 
Finance and Procurement and the City Solicitor. 

Page 30



 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL  
 
� None 
 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY  
 
 None 
 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS  
 
� None 
 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 
� None 
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  
 
� None 
 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  
 
� None 
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 
� None 
 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

The winter 2015 floods affected several areas and communities across the District, 
which include: • Bingley; • Bingley Rural; • Craven; • Ilkley; • Wharfedale; • 
Shipley; • Baildon; • Idle and Thackley; • Keighley East. • Worth Valley. 

 
7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS  

(for reports to Area Committees only) 
 

None 
 
7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
 None 
 
7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 None 

Page 31



 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  

 
None 

 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 

The report seeks to update members on progress achieved on the 
recommendations of the Water Management Scrutiny Review. Members are asked 
to consider the report and provide views and comments. 

 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 That Bradford Council’s Regeneration and Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee receives a report back before the end of October 2019 which 
monitors progress against the recommendations contained within the Water 
Management Scrutiny Review. 

 
11. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1 – Water Management Scrutiny Review Report  
 
 Appendix 2 - Bradford Councils Capital Flood Risk Programme 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
 None 
  
 
 

Page 32



- 1 - 

 

 

Report of the Environment and Waste Management 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 
Tuesday 2 May 2017 

Water 
Management 
across the 

Bradford District 

Page 53Page 33



 - 2 - 

Membership of the Environment and Waste 

Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(EWMOSC) 

 

Members 

 
Cllr Aneela Ahmed 
Cllr Ralph Berry 
Cllr Mike Gibbons 
Cllr Martin Love, (Deputy Chair) 
Cllr Naveed Riaz 
Cllr Brendan Stubbs 
Cllr Kevin Warnes, (Chair) 
Cllr Rosemary Watson 
 
Co-Opted Members 
 
Nicola Hoggart – Environment Agency 
Julia Pearson – Bradford Environment Forum 

Alternate Members 
 
Cllr Sue Duffy 
Cllr Michael Ellis 
Cllr Hawarun Hussain 
Cllr Zafar Iqbal 
Cllr Hassan Khan 
Cllr Sarfraz Nazir 
Cllr Jack Rickard 
Cllr Rachel Sunderland 

Contact for Enquiries 

 

Mustansir Butt, Overview and Scrutiny Lead 

E-mail: mustansir.butt@bradford.gov.uk 

Tel: 01274 432574 

Page 54Page 34

mailto:mustansir.butt@bradford.gov.uk


 - 3 - 

Contents 
 
 
 
 
 

1) Chair’s Foreword         4 

 

2) Introduction          6 

 

3) Findings           7 

 

4) Concluding Remarks        20 

 

5) Summary of Scrutiny Review Recommendations   21 

 
 
 
 

 Appendix 1: Terms of Reference. 

 Appendix 2: Executive Summary of Bradford Council’s ‘Review to 

Consider the Future of Water Management and the Associated 

Problems of Flooding in Bradford District’, published in 2005. 

 Appendix 3: Officer powerpoint presentation summarising progress 

to date in implementing the recommendations of the 2005 review, 

EWMOSC meeting, 26 July 2016. 

 Appendix 4: Extract from the printed minutes of the EWMOSC 

meeting on 26 July 2016 during which the committee reviewed 

progress to date in implementing the recommendations of the 2005 

review. 

 Appendix 5: EWMOSC evidence-gathering sessions and witnesses. 

 Appendix 6: List of briefing reports provided to this committee. 

 Appendix 7: List of background documents. 

 

  

Page 55Page 35



 - 4 - 

1)   Chair’s Foreword 

 
The floods of December 2015 inundated over 1,000 homes and businesses across a 

wide swathe of Bradford District and turned the lives of many hundreds of local people 

upside down. The cost of the damage to residential and commercial property is estimated 

to have been around £34 million. The broader social, environmental and economic 

impacts were even greater in scope as residents struggled to cope with the upheaval to 

their everyday lives through the months that followed. For some, sixteen months after 

they were originally flooded out of their homes or premises, the long recovery process 

continues. 

 

The Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 

undertaken this scrutiny review in order to ensure that Bradford Council and its partner 

agencies are better able to cope with future flooding, in ways that we hope will help 

mitigate the impact of these inevitable extreme weather events on the lives of the people 

and communities we serve in the years ahead. Our review confirms that significant 

progress is being made by the Council and its partners in managing flood risk and the 

multiple impacts of flooding; and that developing and sustaining these achievements into 

the 2020s and beyond will be extremely challenging for all concerned. 

 

The councillors on this committee are very grateful for the support of representatives from 

our external partners who contributed with their particular insights and experiences. 

These organisations include (in alphabetical order): the Aire Rivers Trust; Calderdale 

Council; the Environment Agency; Friends of Bradford’s Becks; JBA Consulting; and 

Yorkshire Water. Not only did those involved furnish us with detailed written briefing 

papers (see Appendix 3 of this report), but they gave freely of their valuable time to 

participate in two lengthy evening evidence-gathering sessions. We could not have 

completed this review without their generous assistance and we trust that this report will 

help their own future water management projects in turn. 

 

We are also very grateful to our hard-working and dedicated Council officers with whom 

we are fortunate to work and who also gave up their time to provide us with briefing 

documents and to join us for the information-gathering sessions. Finally, we also very 

much appreciate the support of our fellow councillors in completing this review. 

 

On a personal note, I would like to thank my colleague (and prior chair of this committee) 

Cllr Martin Love for opening this review and for his experienced support and active 

participation as our work has proceeded. I am also very grateful to Mustansir Butt for his 

seasoned advice throughout the past six months; and finally to Maria Dara in Member 

Support for her invaluable contribution in transcribing the five hours of testimony that 

helped shape our report and its numerous recommendations. 

 

Cllr Kevin Warnes 

Chair, Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 56Page 36



 - 5 - 

 

2)   Introduction 

 
Background  
 
At its meeting on Tuesday 19 January 2016, Bradford Council agreed that the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee undertake an in-depth scrutiny review of the 
effectiveness of the Council and its Partners in dealing with the District-wide flooding of 
December 2015. 
 
Following discussions with Councillors and Officers, it was also agreed that water 
management across the District should be looked at and that the Environment and 
Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee should undertake that scrutiny 
review. 
 
The Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed 
its terms of reference for this scrutiny review in April 2016. Specifically, the committee 
resolved to: 
 
1) examine the policies that impact on either the mitigation of flood risk or contribute to 

that risk; 
2) identify potential sources of funding and other resources that could assist in reducing 

the risk and impact of flooding; 
3) develop an action plan to reduce the risk and impact of flooding and use in response 

to any future incidents; 
4) consider future climate change assumptions and their impact on the frequency and 

severity of flooding incidents; 
5) consider measures which could be taken to reduce the rate of water runoff into the 

river system; 
6) consider the effect of increased flooding risk on proposed development and the effect 

of proposed and possible future development on run off and flooding risk. 1 
 
This review therefore offers a wider perspective on water management across Bradford 
District. It aims to bring a range of valuable ongoing work streams together in order to 
improve the effectiveness of Bradford Council’s approach (and those of our partner 
agencies) to water management across the District and beyond. 
 
The Scrutiny Review Process 
 
EWMOSC colleagues began their deliberations on 26 July 2016 with a brief review of 
progress made since 2005 in relation to water management and the associated 
problems of flooding in Bradford District. This meeting included a comprehensive 
presentation by Council officers on implementation to date of the recommendations of 
Bradford Council’s 2005 ‘Review to Consider the Future of Water Management and the 
Associated Problems of Flooding in Bradford District’ (see Appendices 2-4 of this report 
for full details of the 2005 recommendations, the officer presentation on 26 July and the 
associated committee deliberations). 
 

                                            
1
 For the full Terms of Reference, see Appendix 1. 

Page 57Page 37



 - 6 - 

Two information-gathering sessions were subsequently undertaken as part of this 
scrutiny review focused on the six areas for improvement mentioned above. These 
took place at City Hall on 24 January and 7 February 2017 and involved both Bradford 
Council officers and representatives from a range of partner organisations.2 EWMOSC 
members have considered a range of information including the briefing documents 
provided for these evidence-gathering session, the oral testimony of the participants 
and a range of background documents.3 
 
The Scrutiny Review Recommendations 
 
As a result of the review, this Committee has made a total of 26 recommendations for 
consideration by colleagues. Some of these recommendations are closely linked with 
each other. All are contained (a) within the body of the report and (b) summarised at 
the end of the main body of this report for ease of reference. 
 
 

~~~ 
 
 
 
 
 

  

                                            
2
 The full list of participants can be found in Appendix 5. 

3
 For the full list of documents provided, see Appendices 6 and 7. 

Page 58Page 38



 - 7 - 

3)   Findings 

 
This section presents the findings of the Environment and Waste Management Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee into Water Management across the Bradford District. 
 
 

Key Line of Enquiry 1 
 
Examine the policies that impact on either the mitigation of flood risk 
or contribute to that risk. 
 
Legislative overview 
 
Flood risk management is informed by (and subject to) a range of pieces of legislation. 
These include the 2009 Flood Risk Regulations, the 2010 Flood and Water Management 
Act (FWMA) and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
Bradford Council, as a Lead Local Flood Authority, is required by the FWMA to maintain a 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS). This has been developed and adopted 
by the Council. This needs to be consistent with the National Strategy for Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) that is the responsibility of the Environment 
Agency (under the provisions of the FWMA). 
 
It is clear, however, from the summary report tabled by officers on 24 January and 
feedback from participants during this first evidence-gathering session that national 
flooding policy remains in a state of flux. This has complicated the challenges facing the 
Council as we seek to manage flood risk across the District and has been problematic in 
terms of developing the emerging Core Strategy. 
 
Non-implementation of Schedule 3 of the FWMA 
 
Crucially, some parts of the FWMA were not brought into effect in 2010, notably Schedule 
3 (Sustainable Drainage). This has been “subject to continual delays” in the view of 
Council officers (although this did not necessarily preclude Bradford from developing its 
own sustainable drainage policy in the meantime). The full implementation of the FWMA 
would have given Bradford Council greater control over the design of new drainage 
systems and enabled us to ensure that developers incorporate Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems (SUDS) into their proposals. 
 
Instead, because Schedule 3 is not yet in force and, indeed, is not likely to come into 
effect in the near future, the committee was told on 24 January that “we do not have the 
appropriate [national] policy framework that we expected we would have in terms of how 
developers implement drainage schemes”. Officers commented that relying on the 
existing planning process for SUDS is therefore “less than ideal”. In a separate note, one 
participant observed that the government’s “failure to enact Schedule 3…effectively 
weakens where we were rather than strengthening it. Whilst we can use planning 
legislation to provide a basis for maintenance as well as design, without the resources 

Page 59Page 39



 - 8 - 

which the SuDS Approval Body would have given us to inspect and adopt, the reality is 
we can’t ensure the process is robust.”4 
 
Pre-application guidance 
 
Bradford Council currently refers developers to a two-page non-statutory technical 
guidance document relating to SUDS (comprising just 14 brief points). According to the 
briefing paper provided by Council officers on 24 January, this has “reduced the 
effectiveness of the original proposal [Schedule 3]”.5 
 
This problem was noted in the Leeds City Region Flood Review Report, published in 
December 2016, which stated that “developing a strategic approach to sustainable urban 
drainage systems…is currently hampered by a lack of robust national guidance”. [WYCA, 
page 7] Indeed, the report went on to recommend “consistent planning policies and 
approaches across the City Region…to mitigate flooding and improve resilience, 
including preparing City Region supplementary planning guidance to provide a stronger 
steer for the adoption of SUDS”. (WYCA, page 52). 
 
Several participants highlighted the role the Council can play in providing pre-application 
guidance for developers. One witness highlighted the need for “a consistent approach” 
across West Yorkshire. In the opinion of officers, Bradford Council has been “proactive” in 
seeking the implementation of Schedule 3. It appears that DEFRA would also like to see 
this part of the FWMA brought into effect. In the meantime, officers informed the 
committee that they are currently developing supplementary planning guidance relating to 
sustainable drainage. 
 
Register of structures/features affecting flood risk 
 
Bradford Council, under the provisions of the FWMA, has a duty to maintain a register of 
structures or features that have a significant effect on flood risk. Officers confirmed that 
this register has been “under development for a couple of years” and is “ongoing” in 
nature. In a separate note, officers indicated that “the asset register is in place and due to 
its nature is a live process that requires continuous monitoring”. The Environment Agency 
confirmed that they regularly share asset information in their monthly meetings with the 
Council, Network Rail and Yorkshire Water under the aegis of the Flood Programme 
Board established by the Council to support its LFRMS. 
 
Six year cycle of planning 
 
The Committee learned on 24 January that “to manage flood risk, both the Agency and 
local authorities must follow a six year cycle of planning”. Officers indicated that the six 
year cycle renews in 2017 and the Council’s Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment “will be 
reviewed in accordance with DEFRA guidelines (issued 25 January 2017) by mid-June 
this year”. 
 
 
 

                                            
4
 Email to the chair from Tony Poole, Principal Engineer Drainage, Bradford Council, 16 February 2017. 

5
 In addition, it is worth noting that the non-statutory nature of the technical guidance document has been 

accompanied by a central government claim that ‘no new burdens’ are being imposed on Bradford. This, in 
turn, has triggered an almost complete elimination of the funding available to Bradford as a Lead Local 
Flood Authority (a revenue cut of over £50k per annum). 

Page 60Page 40



 - 9 - 

Lead role of the National House Building Council Inspectors 
 
Aside from strict planning considerations, officers also flagged up the fact that Bradford 
Council has limited involvement in overseeing the incorporation of sustainable drainage 
into new developments. According to officers, “the majority of house-building does not go 
through the local authority...but goes via the National House Building Council’s 
Inspectors…who serve notice on the local authority”. This clearly remains an ongoing 
issue and one which Bradford Council may need to review. 
 
Flood risk inspection of completed developments 
 
The first evidence session also revealed that, although the Council goes through flood 
risk assessments “quite rigorously” at the planning stage in the view of officers, the 
Council does not ordinarily inspect completed developments to ensure that sustainable 
drainage and flood risk management measures have been properly implemented. 
 
Involvement of communities in SUDS creation and maintenance 
 
Participants highlighted the role that local communities can play (perhaps via 
volunteering) in creating and maintaining SUDS in terms of creating habitats and 
sustainable drainage systems in parks (as well as other projects) and that this can have 
health and well-being benefits as well. This is not easy and takes time and resources, but 
can be worthwhile. One participant highlighted the need for “creative ways of working with 
communities” to manage natural drainage systems in particular. 
 
Need for a ‘whole-catchment’ approach to flood risk management. 
 
One councillor stressed the importance of dealing with the Wharfe as well as the Aire, 
and for all parts of the Wharfe valley to be considered. The Environment Agency 
emphasised in response that they are focused on the whole of the Wharfe valley as well 
as the Aire valley and that they approach the challenge of water management on a 
‘whole-catchment’ basis.6 This was mirrored in a separate note from officers which states 
that the Council’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy “encompasses a district-wide 
approach to flood and water management and the catchment-based approach is being 
undertaken by all relevant authorities”. 
 

Recommendation 1 (mirrors Recommendation 16) 
 
That the Council liaises closely with partner city region authorities to finalise 
supplementary planning guidance as soon as possible, and that officers quickly 
finalise a date by when these documents will be published. 

 

Recommendation 2 
 
That the Council continues to review the development of its ‘register of structures 
or features that affect flood risk’. 

 
  

                                            
6
 This ‘whole-catchment’ approach is exemplified in the Upper Aire Catchment Network briefing paper 

published by the Environment Agency in March 2017 and included in Appendix 3 of this report. 

Page 61Page 41



 - 10 - 

Recommendation 3 
 
That the Council urgently reviews its default policy of non-inspection of the 
sustainable urban drainage features and flood risk aspects of completed 
developments, particularly in relation to larger projects and including SUDS 
already installed to date, in order to ensure that these developments are 
consistent with our LFRMS; and that the cost of doing so is borne as far as is 
practicable by the developer. 

 

Recommendation 4 
 
That the Council reviews its engagement with communities with a view to 
ensuring that they are actively involved in the creation and maintenance of SUDS 
and other flood risk management projects. 

 

Recommendation 5 
 
That the Council ensures that its flood risk management strategy continues to 
balance the needs of the Aire and Wharfe valley catchments. 

 
 

Key Line of Enquiry 2 
 
Identify potential sources of funding and other resources that could 
assist in reducing the risk and impact of flooding 
 
Availability of multiple funding streams 
 
From Bradford Council’s perspective, investing in flood risk management (including 
mitigation) measures is both essential and difficult. To quote from the Council’s briefing 
note for the second information-gathering session, “the enormous economic, personal, 
health, and wellbeing costs associated with flooding make the argument for investment in 
flood defences and other measures to reduce risk a persuasive one. Despite this, raising 
finances to fund improvements is a huge challenge”. 
 
There are a range funding streams available, the main proportion of which is derived from 
central government. Council colleagues identified several examples of funding that has 
recently been obtained or applied for. These include: approval for the BEGIN and SCORE 
projects (see appendices for details) utilising European Regional Development Fund 
investment; the securing of Local Levy funding worth £850,000 for the Bradford Flood 
Programme; and the securing of £20 million in Local Enterprise Partnership funding for 
investment in flood defences in Leeds, Calderdale, Bradford, Skipton and Kirklees. 
 
It is noteworthy that Bradford Council officers are working closely with the Environment 
Agency to ensure that funding for green infrastructure is incorporated into key economic 
development projects such as the Canal Road corridor scheme. 
 
Environment Agency colleagues were very clear about the significance of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy as a source of investment in flood risk management measures. As 
their briefing paper for this session stated, they “urge all Local Authorities to consider 
using funds from the Community Infrastructure Levy towards flood alleviation measures”. 

Page 62Page 42



 - 11 - 

The Agency also highlighted the opportunities for seeking partnership funding from the 
Department of Transport’s National Productivity Investment Fund. 
 

Recommendation 6 
 
That the Council reviews the potential for using funds from the Community 
Infrastructure Levy for flood alleviation measures. 

 

Recommendation 7 
 
That the Council liaises with other West Yorkshire local authorities to secure 
funding from the Department of Transport’s National Productivity Investment 
Fund. 

 

 
Key Line of Enquiry 3 
 
Develop an action plan to reduce the risk and impact of flooding and 
use in response to any future incidents 
 
Multi-agency, partnership-oriented action-planning 
 
Bradford is committed to joint action-planning via its participation in the Bradford Flood 
Programme Board, through which the Council has coordinated its actions since July 2016 
with the Environment Agency, Yorkshire Water and Network Rail. The Council’s briefing 
note for this information-gathering session provided a very detailed summary of the 
extensive range of action-planning associated with our Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy (see appendices). 
 
One participant emphasised the need for Bradford Council to work closely with Yorkshire 
Water to ensure that action-planning is undertaken to “identify the hotspots for surface 
water drainage in Bradford and then look to see which ones could be tackled”. 
 
The Environment Agency emphasised the need for a “well-integrated approach” to all 
aspects of action-planning. The Agency also cited the importance of reference to the 
National Planning Policy Framework; of avoiding development in areas at risk of flooding; 
of ensuring that the Agency’s new climate change allowances released in February 2016 
are properly applied throughout the planning process; and of identifying land required for 
current and future flood management that therefore needs to be protected from 
development in order to mitigate the impacts of climate change. 
 
The Agency’s briefing note for our information-gathering session provided a very detailed 
summary of the extensive range of actions undertaken since early 2016, in many cases in 
conjunction with partners (see appendices). 
 
People-centred action-planning 
 
The Environment Agency noted the importance of building resilient community networks 
capable of managing their proximity to nearby rivers, for example, rather than focusing on 
developing flood warden roles with a more narrow focus on flooding events that will, after 

Page 63Page 43



 - 12 - 

all, only occur on an irregular (though more frequent) basis in the future. In the words of 
one participant, it is vital to ensure that “actions are people-centred”. 
 
Participants emphasised that action-planning is not just about preventing or minimising 
the impact of flooding events, but also about enabling individuals and communities to 
recover from those inevitable disasters. One participant stressed the importance of saying 
that “the picture is going to be ever-evolving, the flood risks are going to increase, the 
frequency is going to increase, and the severity is going to increase. We are not going to 
get rid of flooding. People will still be flooded. It is about how we manage that. It is about 
how we make sure that we minimise the number of people who have been flooded, we 
minimise the impact of that flooding and that they recover quicker…it is about how we use 
all the tools…make sure that we are as responsible as we can be and…that we future 
proof [our actions]”. 
 
One Agency colleague noted how quickly the flood warden network and other community 
schemes had faded away as the experience of the 2000 floods receded into the 
background (another participant noted that many flood wardens had been retired and 
were therefore relatively elderly). This colleague emphasised instead the need for a 
“different approach…looking at existing community groups, existing networks, established 
organisations like town councils and parish councils…rather than setting up something 
that is specifically flood focused”. A Council participant widened this approach to highlight 
the need to plan for “general resilience to meet whatever happens” and that the 
“challenge is to develop a much broader community resilience to whatever might 
happen”. 
 
Another participant from the Environment Agency noted the “multiple benefits of green 
infrastructure” action-planning which, in turn, contribute to community resilience: 
specifically, “they will make us more drought resilient, they will make us more resilient to 
the urban island effect and a whole range of weather conditions, air pollution, air quality 
issues as well. There are a broad number of benefits to green infrastructure that are 
mapped, that can be valued. The public health benefits are also massively under-
estimated”. 
 
On a particularly positive note, one participant indicated that “we are in a really good 
place at the moment given the climate that we are in and if we keep the momentum, the 
pace, the political commitment, not just within Bradford but across West Yorkshire as a 
unit, I think we will see some real tangible differences”. Many participants certainly shared 
this perspective, despite an awareness to the challenges of coordinating a complex array 
of actions between so many agencies and community groups and across multiple 
municipal boundaries over such long stretches of time. 
 

Recommendation 8 
 
That the Council takes steps to ensure that the Environment Agency’s new climate 
change allowances are applied in the preparation of the site allocations 
development plan to ensure that proper consideration is given to increased flood 
vulnerability linked to climate change and that identified sites are avoided where 
appropriate. 

 
  

Page 64Page 44



 - 13 - 

Recommendation 9 
 
That the Council reviews the actions necessary for it to ensure that land required 
for current and future flood management is protected from development in order 
to mitigate the impacts of climate change. 

 

Recommendation 10 
 
That the Council reviews its record to date in enabling community engagement 
around the challenges of water management and flooding and explores the options 
for developing more resilient local networks in future years. 

 

Recommendation 11 
 
That the Council works closely with Yorkshire Water to identify key places where 
surface water drainage problems exist in order to ensure that its action-planning 
delivers early, tangible results for our community. 

 

Recommendation 12 
 
That Yorkshire Water and the Environment Agency undertake a full investigation 
of possible sewage-related pollution sources in the Bradford Beck catchment in 

the next investment cycle (AMP7, which starts with PR19). 
 

 
Key Line of Enquiry 4 
 
Consider future climate change assumptions and their impact on the 
frequency and severity of flooding incidents 
 
Disparity between (a) the growing impacts of the climate change and (b) the 
resources available to mitigate these impacts 
 
The briefing paper provided by Council officers on 24 January and contributions during 
the evidence-gathering session highlighted the growing flooding risks associated with 
climate change. In particular, officers drew attention to the increased rainfall intensity and 
peak river flow allowances that now have to be factored into design and planning 
considerations for new developments. The Environment Agency confirmed that its latest 
climate change allowances are “significantly different” from previous models. 
In that context of accelerating climate change risks, the Council’s briefing paper stressed 
that “current budget constraints only allow a reactive approach rather than a proactive 
approach”. It stated that “regular maintenance regimes to council owned drainage 
systems and watercourses/rivers will need to increase to combat the rise in water flows 
and levels”. 
 
The paper went on to state that, although Local Levy funding worth £880k has been 
secured to “advance” a number of studies of flooding risk at particular locations on the 
Aire/Worth catchments and the River Wharfe, “it will not address maintenance and other 
issues that we see as a priority. Regular maintenance regimes to council-owned drainage 
systems and watercourses/rivers will need to increase to combat the rise in water flows 

Page 65Page 45



 - 14 - 

and levels and internal funding arrangements for capital and revenue budgets and 
staffing levels need to be assessed”. 
 
During the evidence-gathering session, officers indicated that there “has been no capital 
budget” for flood risk management, although “there have been budgets for individual 
schemes for a number of years”. They stated that “the maintenance budget that we used 
to have has not been increased since the 1990s…and has been transferred into the 
salary budget”. They added that “there are vacancies on the books”. They went on to 
state that the Council is essentially carrying out “minor bits of repairs” and confirmed that 
they would prefer to be more “proactive” in this area. Most of the work currently carried 
out is reactive, in response to about 300-400 complaints annually. 
 
Disproportionate impact of flooding events on socially vulnerable groups. 
 
The briefing paper provided by officers on 24 January highlighted that flooding events 
present challenges for older residents, for residents prone to mental health problems, and 
for residents in poor health and/or on low incomes. Officers noted during this session that 
“the social care agenda and self-care agenda and keeping elderly people in particular in 
their homes longer”, as well as the ageing population, will need to be considered as we 
manage flood risk. This is especially important in the “recovery phase” following flooding 
events as the Council seeks to look after those who are “reliant on social care and 
experiencing mental health issues” in order to “understand what their needs are and how 
we can best address those”.  
 
Need for, and difficulty of, greater community engagement. 
 
Several participants stressed the need for more ‘bottom-up’ activity to respond to the 
growing flooding risks of climate change – particularly as a means of mitigating the 
Council’s own resource limitations in this area. Officers emphasised the cumulative 
importance of the many “small individual” actions that local people and communities can 
take to help mitigate flood risk and support more sustainable urban drainage. This point 
was also a prominent feature of the ‘Ten Point Plan’ provided by Friends of Bradford’s 
Becks. The Environment Agency similarly highlighted the positive role that can be played 
by local action plans in this respect. 
 

Recommendation 13 
 
That the Council urgently reviews both capital and revenue funding streams for 
maintaining council-owned drainage systems and watercourses/rivers in order to 
ensure that we deal with the rise in water flows and levels associated with 
climate change. 

 

Recommendation 14 
 
That the Council continues to update its LFRMS to take account of the 
disproportionate impacts that arise from the growing risk of flooding events related 
to climate change. 

 
  

Page 66Page 46



 - 15 - 

Recommendation 15 
 
That the Council updates its LFRMS to incorporate the development of ‘bottom-
up’ actions to support sustainable drainage, mitigate the risk of flooding and 
enable communities to recover from flooding events. 

 
 

Key Line of Enquiry 5 
 
Consider measures which could be taken to reduce the rate of water 
runoff into the river system 
 
The importance of comprehensive information gathering and multi-agency working 
 
Bradford Council has undertaken a wide range of measures (as part of our Local Flood 
Risk Management Strategy) to reduce the rate of water runoff into the river system. 
These include: improving understanding of flood risk, reducing the impact of flooding on a 
priority basis; communicating flood risk to partners and stakeholders; carrying out 
targeted maintenance on a priority basis; and ensuring that appropriate development 
takes place. 
 
The Environment Agency similarly engages in data assessment, information-gathering 
and risk assessment. Their understanding of current and future risks of flooding is 
supplemented by the information gathered by Bradford Council. The Agency works 
closely with councils and other organisations, notably Yorkshire Water, to use this 
information to develop strategic plans such as catchment flood management plans that, in 
turn, “assist lead local flood authorities in developing local flood risk management 
strategies”. Key features of this work include mapping flood risk and maintaining a 
“register of assets and other features that help to manage risks”. 
 
According to the Agency, the specific measures being undertaken in Bradford to reduce 
the rate of river run-off include: updating the “flood extents mapping” for the District; 
helping to produce a “resident and business Flood Resilience and Community 
Engagement Information Pack”; identifying fifteen priority locations where further 
investigations will be carried out to understand the reasons for flooding and tackle those 
sources accordingly; piloting an Asset Sharing Database in collaboration with Network 
Rail, Yorkshire Water and Bradford Council (via the Bradford Investment Board); liaising 
with all Lead Local Flood Authorities, including Bradford Council, to ensure that flooding 
considerations are taken on board by developers during the planning application process. 
 
All participants emphasised how keen they are to work collaboratively on gathering 
information to aid their understanding of water runoff and the measures that can be 
adopted to mitigate this challenge. There was a repeated emphasis on the need for 
catchment-wide approaches stretching across local authority boundaries. As one 
participant from Calderdale Council succinctly put it, “…water does not respect local 
authority boundaries, so what happens here has an impact further down and what 
happens further up has an impact here as well. What happens in Calderdale goes down 
through Wakefield, so it is about us all working together, and that is happening across 
West Yorkshire”. Another participant commented that “one of the things that is coming 
through loud and clear already is that any solution to this huge challenge [of water runoff] 
is going to have to be multi-agency, multi-solution. We are going to have to work across 

Page 67Page 47



 - 16 - 

natural local authority boundaries. We are going to have to find ways of co-ordinating 
what we do. Effectively we do so already, but we have got to improve that. It has got to be 
top down and bottom up”. 
 
Natural Flood Management 
 
All participants stressed the importance of Natural Flood Management (NFM), defined as 
working with natural features and processes – particularly in upland areas - to mitigate 
flood risk. This can of course be undertaken in addition to the ‘harder’ defences against 
flooding that have received greater attention to date in both urban and rural areas. As one 
participant put it, “NFM should be considered as an integral part of the comprehensive 
flood risk management toolkit, where it can be effectively used to complement more 
traditional flood risk management schemes and increase their resilience”. An added 
bonus are the broader environmental and social benefits that NFM measures can deliver 
(including biodiversity enhancement, water quality improvement, carbon sequestration 
and amenity value). These wider benefits can, of course, also assist in identifying 
additional sources of funding. 
 
NFM measures that mitigate water runoff (‘Slowing the Flow’) can include creating 
additional woodland; appropriate land/soil management practices; improved management 
of moorland to “enhance its ability to act as a natural sponge”; land drainage 
modifications and runoff attenuation features (such as ‘leaky dams’, small retention ponds 
and ‘notched weir plates’ to hold back flows). Crucially, a range of these are required 
“across the catchment rather than focusing on just a single measure”. Unsurprisingly, the 
successful design and implementation of NFM measures requires “considerable effort by 
a stakeholder partnership group working closely with landowners and [the] farming 
community”. 
 
An outstanding potential example of this multi-agency approach to NFM that is worth 
highlighting can be found in the Ilkley area, where Backstone Beck runs from the moor 
into the River Wharfe just east of Ashlands School and flooding has historically occurred. 
Bradford Council has submitted a project brief to the Environment Agency, who have 
secured approximately £250k funding from DEFRA for NFM works. According to the 
Council’s Countryside and Rights of Way service, this will: 
 

“involve ‘slowing the flow’ on Ilkley Moor by diverting/blocking drainage channels 
which form the source of Backstone Beck and by allowing tree regeneration in the 
lower slopes to further increase the moor’s flood mitigation potential. Coupled with 
community engagement for monitoring flows, the project could be an excellent pilot 
scheme that has replicability in other areas in the District on both the Wharfe and 
Aire catchments. 
 
It is an opportunity for the Council to lead by example as a landowner in reducing 
flood risk locally via NFM and ultimately longer term through multiple smaller 
schemes on a more catchment wide basis. Schemes such as this also capture [a 
range of] wider environmental, social and wellbeing benefits...such as increased 
biodiversity (improvements to blanket bogs through re-wetting, wider species 
diversity through increase tree cover, resilience to wildfire, enhanced carbon 
sequestration and lower silting levels in run-off and thus better water quality).” 7 

                                            
7
 Extract from an email to the Chair from Danny Jackson, Countryside and Rights of Way Manager, 

Bradford Council, 10 March 2017. 

Page 68Page 48



 - 17 - 

 
In addition, one participant highlighted the potential for reducing water runoff offered by 
the ‘Green Streets’ approach (adopted by the Leeds City Region Local Economic 
Partnership). This involves “high quality, well designed greening projects” such as street 
trees, rain gardens, green roofs and walls, urban orchards, natural habitats and ‘Green 
Ways’. 
 
Clearly, ‘Green Streets’ measures are relevant to both new developments and to adapting 
our existing urban spaces to mitigate water runoff and the resulting flood risk. As one 
participant said, “we have massive urban areas that make a substantial contribution to 
flooding”. 
 
Participants agreed that managing water runoff requires a mix of ‘macro-interventions’ 
and ‘micro-contributions’, and that the latter area is where “community engagement” is so 
vital. According to one witness, “all those tiny bits help and the more we can engage with 
the communities the more we can get those little bits done…action and engagement is 
absolutely key at all levels ranging from multi-million pound hard engineering schemes to 
encouraging small groups and even individuals to do what they can”. 
 

Recommendation 16 (mirrors Recommendation 1) 
 
That the Council publishes minimum design standards (in the form of 
supplementary planning guidance) so that developers and their consultants are 
clear on the standards required for acceptable planning applications in relation 
to water runoff and sustainable urban drainage systems, and seeks to ensure 
that this process is completed by the end of April 2018. 

 

Recommendation 17 
 
That the Council engages proactively with partner organisations to identify 
opportunities for additional Natural Flood Management projects across the 
District (such as in the Clayton Beck catchment). 

 

Recommendation 18 
 
That the Council works jointly with Friends of Bradford’s Becks on water 
management projects in the Canal Road area. 
 

Recommendation 19 
 
That the Council works with partner organisations to gather together existing 
knowledge and practice of Natural Flood Management in the form of a ‘best 
practice manual’ in order to engage the community and guide implementation of 
these kind of measures. 

 

Recommendation 20 
 
That the Council adopts a ‘whole catchment’ approach to reducing water runoff, in 
conjunction with neighbouring local authorities (particularly Leeds, but also those 
‘upstream’ of our District) and partner agencies. 

 

Page 69Page 49



 - 18 - 

Recommendation 21 
 
That the Council incorporates the ‘Green Streets’ approach in its planning process 
and infrastructure development schemes. 

 

Recommendation 22 
 
That the Council identifies future opportunities where it can show leadership in 
reducing and slowing water flow by its own actions, such as in the road and cycle 
path engineering schemes that it designs and through its ongoing refurbishment of 
the Council estate (possible measures may include controlling roof drainage by 
disconnecting building drains from the sewer system and installing planters, 
soakaways and green roofs). 

 

Recommendation 23 
 
That the Council considers either (a) signing up to the ‘Blue and Green 
Infrastructure’ declaration issued by Newcastle City Council and five partner 
agencies in February 2016 or (b) issuing its own declaration in order to aid the 
prioritisation of Blue-Green infrastructure in managing flood risk across Bradford 
District. 
 

Recommendation 24 
 
That the Council investigates what more it can do to promote community and 
individual awareness of what can be done locally to reduce water runoff and 
flooding risk. 

 
 

Key Line of Enquiry 6 
 
Consider the effect of increased flooding risk on proposed 
development and the effect of proposed and possible future 
development on run off and flooding risk 
 
 
Importance of the planning process for mitigating flood risk 
 
It was clear that participants regarded the planning process – and the Council’s role 
therein - as an important element in managing flood risk. As the Environment Agency put 
it during the session, “the role of the planning system in climate change mitigation is very 
fundamental”. Several participants stressed the very professional approach taken by the 
Council during the planning application process to ensure that “the impact of flood risk” is 
“fully taken into account” when proposed developments are assessed. Officers also cited 
several examples where the Council has successfully taken enforcement action to ensure 
that developers and/or owner occupiers rectify problems with drainage systems. 
 
 
 
 

Page 70Page 50



 - 19 - 

Bradford Council involvement in checking that developments do not have an 
adverse impact on run-off and flooding risk. 
 
Several contributions from officers during this part of our first evidence-gathering session 
indicated (as was discussed earlier) that the Council does not currently routinely inspect 
developments once they are completed. Instead, the Council responds “in a reactive way” 
to complaints from the public and takes enforcement action where necessary to rectify 
problems. This has happened in a number of cases and responsibility for taking remedial 
action rests with the developer or the occupants of the land. In sum, therefore, SUDS are 
seen as a responsibility for developers and occupants to manage proactively rather than 
for the Council to do so via its role as the local planning authority. 
 
One Council officer noted that this is a very different regime from the approach to 
highways, which are subsequently adopted by the Council and are therefore “inspected to 
death”. This difference in approach is partly a question of resources – in the words of one 
participant, “we do not have the resource or means…at the moment”; and partly due to a 
perception that this kind of work “is not part of our remit”. 
 
Several participants in this session highlighted the adverse drainage impacts of small-
scale changes in property use such as paving over driveways or building conservatories. 
Some of these activities fall under the scope of ‘permitted development’, others require 
consent. 
 

Recommendation 25 
 
That the Council incorporates sustainable urban drainage messages and policies 
into its broader community engagement, such as the benefits of permeable 
driveways, along the lines of the Ten Point Plan produced by Friends of 
Bradford’s Becks. 

 
 
 
  

Page 71Page 51



 - 20 - 

4)   Concluding Remarks 

 
The process of providing support and guidance to those affected by floods across the 
District, by Bradford Council and its partners, is complex and requires a multi-faceted 
approach. It is therefore imperative that an effective approach to water management 
across the District is adopted by Bradford Council and its partners. 
 
This Committee has sought to take a balanced approach in its deliberations relating to 
this Scrutiny review and aimed to ensure that this report encompasses the views and 
concerns of all interested parties. 
 
The Scrutiny review report identifies a number of recommendations. If implemented, 
these will further improve the approach to water management across the District. 
 
Bradford Council’s Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, will monitor future progress against these scrutiny review recommendations. 
 

Recommendation 26 
 
That Bradford Council’s Environment and Waste Management Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee receives a report back before the end of April 2018 which 
monitors progress against all the recommendations contained within this scrutiny 
review. 

 
 

~~~ 
 
 
  

Page 72Page 52



 - 21 - 

5)   Summary of Scrutiny Review Recommendations 

 

Recommendation 1 (mirrors Recommendation 16) 
 
That the Council liaises closely with partner city region authorities to finalise 
supplementary planning guidance as soon as possible, and that officers 
quickly finalise a date by when these documents will be published. 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
That the Council continues to review the development of its ‘register of 
structures or features that affect flood risk’. 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
That the Council urgently reviews its default policy of non-inspection of the 
sustainable urban drainage features and flood risk aspects of completed 
developments, particularly in relation to larger projects and including SUDS 
already installed to date, in order to ensure that these developments are 
consistent with our LFRMS; and that the cost of doing so is borne as far as is 
practicable by the developer. 
 
Recommendation 4 
 
That the Council reviews its engagement with communities with a view to 
ensuring that they are actively involved in the creation and maintenance of 
SUDS and other flood risk management projects. 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
That the Council ensures that its flood risk management strategy continues 
to balance the needs of the Aire and Wharfe valley catchments. 
 
Recommendation 6  
 
That the Council reviews the potential for using funds from the Community 
Infrastructure Levy for flood alleviation measures. 
 
Recommendation 7 
 
That the Council liaises with other West Yorkshire local authorities to secure 
funding from the Department of Transport’s National Productivity Investment 
Fund. 

Page 73Page 53



 - 22 - 

Recommendation 8 
 
That the Council takes steps to ensure that the Environment Agency’s new 
climate change allowances are applied in the preparation of the site 
allocations development plan to ensure that proper consideration is given to 
increased flood vulnerability linked to climate change and that identified sites 
are avoided where appropriate. 
 
Recommendation 9 
 
That the Council reviews the actions necessary for it to ensure that land 
required for current and future flood management is protected from 
development in order to mitigate the impacts of climate change. 
 
Recommendation 10 
 
That the Council reviews its record to date in enabling community 
engagement around the challenges of water management and flooding and 
explores the options for developing more resilient local networks in future 
years. 
 
Recommendation 11  
 
That the Council works closely with Yorkshire Water to identify key places 
where surface water drainage problems exist in order to ensure that its 
action-planning delivers early, tangible results for our community. 
 
Recommendation 12 
 
That Yorkshire Water and the Environment Agency undertake a full 
investigation of possible sewage-related pollution sources in the Bradford 
Beck catchment in the next investment cycle (AMP7, which starts with 
PR19). 
 
Recommendation 13 
 
That the Council urgently reviews both capital and revenue funding streams 
for maintaining council-owned drainage systems and watercourses/rivers in 
order to ensure that we deal with the rise in water flows and levels 
associated with climate change. 
 
 
 
 

Page 74Page 54



 - 23 - 

Recommendation 14 
 
That the Council continues to update its LFRMS to take account of the 
disproportionate impacts that arise from the growing risk of flooding events 
related to climate change. 
 
Recommendation 15 
 
That the Council updates its LFRMS to incorporate the development of 
‘bottom-up’ actions to support sustainable drainage, mitigate the risk of 
flooding and enable communities to recover from flooding events. 
 
Recommendation 16 (mirrors Recommendation 1) 
 
That the Council publishes minimum design standards (in the form of 
supplementary planning guidance) so that developers and their consultants 
are clear on the standards required for acceptable planning applications in 
relation to water runoff and sustainable urban drainage systems, and seeks 
to ensure that this process is completed by the end of April 2018. 
 
Recommendation 17 
 
That the Council engages proactively with partner organisations to identify 
opportunities for additional Natural Flood Management projects across the 
District (such as in the Clayton Beck catchment). 
 
Recommendation 18 
 
That the Council works jointly with Friends of Bradford’s Becks on water 
management projects in the Canal Road area. 
 
Recommendation 19 
 
That the Council works with partner organisations to gather together existing 
knowledge and practice of Natural Flood Management in the form of a ‘best 
practice manual’ in order to engage the community and guide 
implementation of these kind of measures. 
 
Recommendation 20 
 
That the Council adopts a ‘whole catchment’ approach to reducing water 
runoff, in conjunction with neighbouring local authorities (particularly Leeds, 
but also those ‘upstream’ of our District) and partner agencies. 
 

Page 75Page 55



 - 24 - 

Recommendation 21 
 
That the Council incorporates the ‘Green Streets’ approach in its planning 
process and infrastructure development schemes. 
 
Recommendation 22 
 
That the Council identifies future opportunities where it can show leadership 
in reducing and slowing water flow by its own actions, such as in the road 
and cycle path engineering schemes that it designs and through its ongoing 
refurbishment of the Council estate (possible measures may include 
controlling roof drainage by disconnecting building drains from the sewer 
system and installing planters, soakaways and green roofs). 
 
Recommendation 23 
 
That the Council considers either (a) signing up to the ‘Blue and Green 
Infrastructure’ declaration issued by Newcastle City Council and five partner 
agencies in February 2016 or (b) issuing its own declaration in order to aid 
the prioritisation of Blue-Green infrastructure in managing flood risk across 
Bradford District. 
 
Recommendation 24 
 
That the Council investigates what more it can do to promote community and 
individual awareness of what can be done locally to reduce water runoff and 
flooding risk. 
 
Recommendation 25 
 
That the Council incorporates sustainable urban drainage messages and 
policies into its broader community engagement, such as the benefits of 
permeable driveways, along the lines of the Ten Point Plan produced by 
Friends of Bradford’s Becks. 
 
Recommendation 26 
 
That Bradford Council’s Environment and Waste Management Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee receives a report back before the end of April 2018 
which monitors progress against all the recommendations contained within 
this scrutiny review. 
 
 

~~~  

Page 76Page 56



 - 25 - 

 
Appendix 1 

 

City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

Water Management Scrutiny Review 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
See Part 3E paragraphs 2.1 to 2.11 of the Constitution of the Council. 
 
Background  
 
At its meeting on Tuesday 19 January 2016, Council agreed that the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee undertake an in-depth scrutiny review, into the effectiveness of 
Bradford Council and its Partners in dealing with the floods across the District in 
December 2015. 
 
It was also agreed that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee would receive 
the final review report, prior to its submission to full Council. 
 
Following discussions with Councillors and Officers, it was also agreed that water 
management across the District should be looked at and it was agreed that the 
Environment and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee should 
undertake this scrutiny review. 
 
The winter 2015 floods affected several areas and communities across the District. 
 
A review to consider the future of water management and associated problems of 
flooding in the Bradford District was undertaken in 2004-2005 and this review will also 
consider the progress made against the recommendations in that review.  
 
Key Lines of Enquiry 
 
The key lines of enquiry for this scrutiny review are to: 
 

 Examine the policies that impact on either the mitigation of flood risk or contribute 
to that risk; 

 Identify potential sources of funding and other resources that could assist in 
reducing the risk and impact of flooding; 

 Develop an action plan to reduce the risk and impact of flooding and use in 
response to any future incidents; 

 Consider future climate change assumptions and their impact on the frequency 
and severity of flooding incidents; 

 Consider measures which could be taken to reduce the rate of water runoff into the 
river system; 

 Consider the effect of increased flooding risk on proposed development and the 
effect of proposed and possible future development on run off and flooding risk. 

 

Page 77Page 57



 - 26 - 

Methodology 
 
The committee will receive and consider a variety of evidence/information provided by a 
range of interested parties.  The Committee may adopt one or more of the following 
methods to collect evidence/information: 
 

 review relevant documents; 

 review relevant data; 

 review written submissions from, or meetings with, interested parties; 

 undertake relevant visits. 

Indicative list of interested parties  
 
An indicative list of interested parties is provided below. This is not definitive or exclusive 
and can be developed as the scrutiny progresses. 
 

Organisation / Department 
 

Contact 

Bradford Council Executive Portfolio 
Holder 

Cllr Alex Ross-Shaw 

Bradford Council Officers 
Emergency Management, Drainage, 
Highways, Highways Asset Management and 
Countryside and Rights of Way 

Aire Rivers Trust Geoff Roberts 

The Environment Agency Nicola Hoggart 

Other Local Authorities Craven, Leeds, Calderdale, Pickering 

Airedale Inland Drainage Board  

Yorkshire Water  

West Yorkshire Combined Authority  

 
 
Indicative Timetable 
 
 

Date 
 

Milestone 

Tuesday 5 April 2016 
DRAFT Terms of Reference to be presented to the Environment 
and Waste Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee – for 
discussion and approval. 

Tuesday 24 January 
2017 

Information gathering session. 

Tuesday 7 February 
2017 

Information gathering session. 

TBC Final review findings and recommendations. 

 
  

Page 78Page 58



 - 27 - 

Appendix 2 

 

EWMOSC Water Management Scrutiny Review. 
 

Executive summary from the ‘Review to Consider the Future of Water 
Management and the Associated Problems of Flooding in Bradford 

District’, Ashley et al, published in 2005.    
 

 

Page 79Page 59



 - 28 - 

Appendix 3 

 
EWMOSC Water Management Scrutiny Review. 

 
Officer presentation summarising progress to date in implementing the 

recommendations of the 2005 review. 
 

EWMOSC meeting held at City Hall, Bradford, 26 July 2016.    
 

 
 

 

Page 80Page 60



 - 29 - 

 
 
 

 

Page 81Page 61



 - 30 - 

  
 

Page 82Page 62



 - 31 - 

  

  

Page 83Page 63



 - 32 - 

 

  

 
 

Page 84Page 64



 - 33 - 

 
~~~ 

  

Page 85Page 65



 - 34 - 

Appendix 4 

 
EWMOSC Water Management Scrutiny Review. 

 
Extract from the printed minutes of the EWMOSC meeting held at City Hall, 

Bradford, 26 July 2016 (pages 12-14), at which the committee reviewed progress to 
date in implementing the recommendations of the 2005 review.    

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 86Page 66



 - 35 - 

 
Page 87Page 67



 - 36 - 

 
 
 

~~~  

Page 88Page 68



 - 37 - 

Appendix 5 

 
EWMOSC Water Management Scrutiny Review - Participants. 

 
First evidence-gathering session, City Hall, Bradford, 24 January 2017 

 
 James Brass (Bradford Council) 

 Kirsty Breaks (Bradford Council) 

 Mustansir Butt (Bradford Council) 

 Chris Eaton (Bradford Council) 

 Rosa Foster (Environment Agency) 

 Nicola Hoggart (Member, EWMOSC, Environment Agency) 

 Julian Jackson (Bradford Council) 

 Barney Lerner (Friends of Bradford’s Becks) 

 Graham Lindsey (Environment Agency) 

 Cllr Martin Love (Deputy Chair, EWMOSC) 

 Edward Norfolk (Bradford Council) 

 Tony Poole (Bradford Council) 

 Cllr Naveed Riaz (Member, EWMOSC) 

 Geoff Roberts (Aire Rivers Trust) 

 Cllr Martin Smith (Ilkley ward councillor) 

 Cllr Brendan Stubbs (Member, EWMOSC) 

 Cllr Kevin Warnes (Chair, EWMOSC) 

 Cllr Rosie Watson (Member, EWMOSC) 

Second evidence-gathering session, City Hall, Bradford, 7 February 2017 
 

 Cllr Aneela Ahmed (Member, EWMOSC) 

 Steve Barnbrook (Calderdale Council) 

 Kirsty Breaks (Bradford Council) 

 Mustansir Butt (Bradford Council) 

 Gary Collins (Yorkshire Water) 

 Rosa Foster (Environment Agency) 

 Cllr Mike Gibbons (Member, EWMOSC) 

 Nicola Hoggart (Cop-opted Member, EWMOSC, and Environment Agency) 

 Cllr Hawarun Hussain (Shipley ward councillor) 

 Julian Jackson (Bradford Council) 

 Barney Lerner (Friends of Bradford’s Becks) 

 Graham Lindsey (Environment Agency) 

 Cllr Martin Love (Deputy Chair, EWMOSC) 

 Edward Norfolk (Bradford Council) 

 Tony Poole (Bradford Council) 

 Geoff Roberts (Aire Rivers Trust) 

 Steve Rose (JBA Consulting) 

 Cllr Brendan Stubbs (Member, EWMOSC) 

 Cllr Kevin Warnes (Chair, EWMOSC) 

 Jon Whitmore (JBA Consulting) 

Also: Maria Dara, Danny Jackson (Bradford Council) 

Page 89Page 69



 - 38 - 

Appendix 6 
 

 

List of briefing reports provided for the EWMOSC 
in connection with the water management 

evidence-gathering sessions held on 24 January 
2017 and 7 February 2017 

 
 

 Briefing paper, Bradford Council, 24 January session. 

 Briefing paper, Aire Rivers Trust, 7 February session. 

 Briefing paper, Bradford Council, 7 February session. 

 Briefing paper, Environment Agency, 7 February session. 

 Ten Point Plan, Friends of Bradford’s Becks, 7 February 

session. 

 Briefing paper, Natural Flood Management, JBA Consulting, 7 

February session. 

 The Upper Aire Catchment Network, briefing paper, 

Environment Agency, March 2017. 

 
~~~ 

  

Page 90Page 70



 - 39 - 

Appendix 7 

 
 
 

List of background documents 
 

 

 Newcastle Declaration on Blue and Green Infrastructure, 

issued in February 2016 and signed by Newcastle City 

Council and five partner organisations. 

 Report from the Director of Regeneration, Water Management 

Scrutiny Review Scene Setting, Environment and Waste 

Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Bradford 

Council, 26 July 2016. 

 Minutes of the meeting of the Environment and Waste 

Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Bradford 

Council, 26 July 2016. 

 Flooding Scrutiny Review, Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, Bradford Council, September 2016. 

 Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, Bradford Council, 

November 2016. 

 Leeds City Region Flood Review Report, December 2016. 

 UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017, Committee on 

Climate Change. 

 
~~~ 

Page 91Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72



Bradford Programme Board: July 2018 funding and expenditure summary
ADD HARDEN MOOR, WATERLOO CRESCENT AND BACKSTONE BECK

Fully Funded

Bradford Resilience Group               140               140               140                   -                   70                 65                    5               140 N/A Spring 2019 N/A N/A

Skipton Road               350               350               350                   -                   50               300               350 Summer 2020 Spring 2021 35 0

North Beck Study                 25                 25                 25                   -                   25                 25 N/A Spring 2016 N/A N/A

Oakworth Beck Study                 30                 30                 30                   -                   30                 30 N/A Spring 2016 N/A N/A

Goose Eye Surface Water Study and Works               200                 25               225               225                   -                   25                 25 Spring 2026 Spring 2027 40 6

Esholt Initial Assessment & Drainage Study                 10                 50                 60                 60                 10                 50                 60 N/A Summer 2017 N/A N/A

Total Fully Funded               560                   -                   25                   -                     -                     -                 245               830               830                   -                   55                 80               115                   -                   55                   -                 300                 25               630 

Partially Funded

Bradford Aire Catchment Flood Alleviation 

Scheme
           1,036               300            1,336          15,924          14,588               120                 19                 81               200               420 Summer 2024 Spring 2028 270 183

Keighley and Stockbridge Flood Alleviation 

Scheme
           1,613               260            1,873            9,985            8,112                 10               140                 10               110               270 Summer 2023 Spring 2025 388 tbc

Silsden Beck Flood Alleviation               300                 50               350            1,195               845                 10                 20                 30 Summer 2025 Spring 2027 225 76

Ilkley Backstone Beck Culvert                  18                 18               200               182                 10                 10 Summer 2023 Spring 2024 4 tbc

Ilkley Denton Road FAS               137               137               785               648 Summer 2027 Spring 2028 51 tbc

Providence Lane Culvert Repair                 82                 82            2,953            2,871               128 Summer 2022 Spring 2023 41 7

Canal Road Bradford Beck Improvements               239                 30               269            4,544            4,275                 30               100 Summer 2022 Spring 2023 1 tbc

Addingham               168               168               450               282                 10 Summer 2024 Spring 2025 90 33

Haworth 
                10                 10                 40                 30                 10                 30 Summer 2021 Spring 2022 6 15

Burley in Wharfedale
                71                 30               101               410               309                 15                 15 Summer 2027 Spring 2028 82 42

Baildon Surface Water Study               120               120               275               155               120 Summer 2022 Spring 2023 55 tbc

Middlebrook Surface Water Study               430               430               500                 70 Spring 2025 Spring 2026 128 18

Morton Beck Flood Alleviation                 50                 50               250               200 Spring 2025 Spring 2026 33 8

North Beck Culvert                   -                 313               313                 13 Summer 2022 Spring 2023 0 2

Redcar Lane Flood Alleviation                 35                 35                 70                 35                 10 Summer 2023 Spring 2024 6 0

Wharfe Flood Partnership Resilience and 

Stewardship Programme
                45                 45               190               145                 45               145 Summer 2018 Spring 2020 N/A N/A

Unallocated Local Levy                 80                 80 -               80 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total Partially Funded            4,309                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -                 795            5,104          38,084          32,980                   -                 170               140                 29               266               370                 15               411            1,401 

Unsecured Funding

Canal Road Bradford Beck Improvements            2,300                   -              2,300            2,300 

Wharfe Flood Partnership Resilience and 

Stewardship Programme
              145                   -                 145 

Total Unsecured Funding                   -                     -                     -              2,300                   -                     -                 145                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                 145            2,300                   -              2,445 

TOTAL            4,869                   -                   25            2,300                   -                     -              1,185            5,934          38,914          32,980                 55               250               255                 29               321               515            2,615               436            4,476 

Notes: Figures in bold indicate part of the £850k Local Levy allocation

ESIF Other Local Levy 2016/17

Scheme

Funding Allocation £k Total 

Allocation 

£k

Estimated 

Scheme 

Cost £k

Funding 

Gap £k

Prior Years 

Spend £k
FDGiA Other Gov CBMDC LCR GD3

Non-homes
2018/19 

MLRE
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Forecast Spend £k Total 

Forecast 

Spend £k

Constructio

n Start

Constructio

n 

Completion

Homes

2017/18
2018/19 

STD

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

Report of the Strategic Director of Place to the me eting 
of the Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to be held on 2 nd October 2018 

N 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Impact of changes to the library service over the p ast two years and role of 
Museums & Libraries in Bradford’s communities. 
 
Summary statement: 
 
 
Description of changes to the operation of Bradford  Museums & Libraries over 
recent years, with particular reference to communit y managed libraries.  
 

Steve Hartley 
Strategic Director: Place 

Portfolio:   
Healthy People and Places 
 

Report Contact:  Maggie Pedley 
Museums & Galleries Manager 
Phone: (01274) 432626 
E-mail: Maggie.pedley@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
 Regeneration and Environment 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8/



2 
 

1. SUMMARY  
 
            This report gives an update on changes to the delivery of Bradford Libraries & 

Museums in recent years.  
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 Libraries 

In 2011 four libraries became community managed. In 2014 Allerton Library 
relocated to Café West Healthy Living Centre and was managed by the Centre. In 
2016 Idle Library relocated to Wright Watson Enterprise Centre and was managed 
by the Centre. In 2017 a further 11 libraries became community managed, making a 
total of 17. In addition to this in 2017 two libraries became hybrid managed, a mix of 
staff and volunteers. Ten libraries remain  
 
libraries not directly managed by the Council 17 
fully council managed Libraries 10 
hybrid libraries (50:50 paid staff and volunteers) 2 

Total number of libraries 29 
 
Since the beginning of the process in 2011, Ward members and  Parish and Town 
Councillors, along with Ward Officers and other colleagues from Neighbourhoods 
and the Youth Service, have been instrumental in supporting and enabling 
communities to manage their libraries, with some volunteering themselves. 
 
 A signed service level agreement (SLA) is in place for all 17 of the community 
managed libraries. The SLA between the accountable body and Bradford Libraries 
sets out the responsibilities of each party. Broadly this includes the continued 
payment of associated running costs, including rates, by Bradford Council. There is 
also continued indirect staff support, stock purchase and inclusion in national library 
initiatives. 
 
All the community managed libraries received support for the appointment of 
volunteers, dbs checking,  initial training sessions delivered by library staff, and staff 
cover to initially support the opening and establishment of the library was offered. 
 
Appendix 1 shows a complete list of libraries and current status. 
 

   Museums 
The service aims to provide a high quality museums and galleries service that is 
responsive, inspiring and challenging, and through active community engagement 
enriches the lives of the citizens of Bradford and district, and enhances the profile of 
Bradford as a place to visit.  
Since 2010 Bradford Museums has gone through a period of significant change, 
including the cessation of external grant funding and the closure of 3 museum sites 
and Horses at Work.  Grant funding received for  6 years ceased in 2012. The grant 
of £646,000 delivered a high percentage of service and staffing.  
We now consist of one Art Gallery and four Museums located throughout the 
district, which comprise of Cartwright Hall Art Gallery, Bradford Industrial Museum, 

 
 
 

Page 76



3 
 

Bolling Hall Museum and Cliffe Castle Museum.  We attract on average 190,000 
visitors a year and have a very busy education programme used by 90% of all 
Bradford primary schools and attracting on average 20,000 pupils a year.  

 
We care for collections of around 3/4 million objects that represents over 150 years 
of collecting and held in trust as community assets. These collections are used to 
tell the story of Bradford and its people, through exhibitions, displays, education and 
community engagement.  In responding to changes over the last 10 years the 
service has demonstrated a level of resilience that has minimised the impact to 
public service and continued to attract some grant funding from Art Council 
England. The Museums and Galleries Services has a significant contribution to 
make to the regeneration of Bradford; Demonstrated recently with flag ship projects 
attracting national coverage and being key to attracting the National Rugby 
Museum .  It has an important role to play in sharing and celebrating the cultural 
heritage of the district.  

 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Impact of the budget proposal 2016 -18             
 
During a time of major change and impact on communities, customers and staff it should 
be noted that since February 2016 when the budget proposals were agreed, 11 diverse 
communities across the district took up the offer of managing their libraries rather than see 
them close. As described this is in addition to the established six community managed 
libraries(CMLs). 
 
The Museums Services response to budget reductions over the last 2-3 years has 
included a number of changes to the public offer including a limited school holiday family 
activities which can be fully supported by the site staff team. A reduction in exhibitions and 
a greater emphasis on exhibitions derived from the service extensive permanent 
collections. This does put additional pressure of the small curatorial team and this area 
has to be closely monitored. Site operational and public opening times have been 
reviewed and amended where possible to reduce public opening times. Further reductions 
in opening times can not be ruled out due to low levels of front of house staffing.  
 
Staff 
 
Staff continue to deliver excellent service to all our customers, despite a reduction in full 
time equivalents;  
In Libraries from 132 FTE in 2011 to 72.8 FTE present day. This includes a proportion of 
support to the CMLs. All staff are established staff on permanent contracts, complemented 
by a pool of casual workers to cover for holidays, sickness and vacancies. The budget 
allows for 2.25 staff on site per opening hour with the exception of Baildon and Clayton (as 
hybrids - one staff on site per open hour) and City and Keighley (with two floors - 4.5 staff 
on site per open hour). On-site management consists of Team Leaders. There is also a 
management team of operational, development and bibliographic service officers, and 
some specialised admin support. 
A Reduction in Museum staff from  83.1FTE in 2011 to 47.1 FTE present day. All staff are 
established staff on permanent contracts, complemented by a pool of casual workers and 
freelancers.  

Page 77



4 
 

 
 
Volunteers 
 
One of the key messages in the Council plan 2016 – 2020 is “to support individuals and 
groups who want to make a positive difference through our ‘People Can make a 
difference’ campaign in volunteering, being neighbourly, fundraising and taking community 
action.”  
In Libraries this  is visibly demonstrated with the cohorts of volunteers across the district 
,the majority of these 373 individuals from non-library backgrounds. That people give their 
free time not only to continue to provide a library facility but also to develop other initiatives 
that benefit the local community is a great credit to them. In Museums, the service has 
developed a programme of volunteering, with over 100 active volunteers (including young 
people) who deliver of a range of activities, from guiding to gardening) 
https://www.bradfordmuseums.org/get-involved 
 
Budget 
 
The library budget has reduced year on year since 2011 from £3,958,000 to £3,100,000 in 
2018/19. Further savings of £905,000 are planned in 2019/20. Of the current budget, 
£2,093,886 is spent on staff; £412,000 on the materials fund and £177,854 on the CMLs. 
 
The Museum budget has reduced year on year. Since 2014/15 from £ 3,023,300 to 
£1,871,900 in 2018/19. Further savings of £260,000 are planned in 2019/20.  Of the 
current budget £1,555,100 is spent on staff. 
 
Impact 
 
Following the significant changes to the library service in 2017/18; 29 libraries in 22 wards 
across the district have either remained open or re-opened. 
 
Bradford Libraries statement of purpose is ‘To enhance the quality of life of citizens and 
communities across the Bradford district and support their learning, skills development and 
wellbeing by promoting access to relevant ideas, information and works of imagination 
through a high quality Library service’  
 
The word ‘communities’ has gained much significance now that the majority of our libraries 
are community managed. Libraries have remained open in those communities and the 
volunteers have taken the opportunity to react positively to resident needs, with support 
from library staff, ward officers and other partners. 
 
Many of the community managed libraries have taken the opportunity to take a more 
holistic approach to provision of services to their specific communities.  
 
Appendices 2a, 2b and 2c show reports produced by three diverse CMLs – Holme Wood, 
Idle and Menston. Appendix 2d shows examples of promotional material produced by 
Holme Wood, Idle and Addingham. 
 
Core events 
 
Bradford Libraries have a calendar of core events (Appendix 3) which all libraries, 

Page 78



5 
 

including CMLs are expected to support throughout the year. These events link in to the 
National Library Offers of reading, learning, digital, information, health, culture and the 
overarching children’s promise. However it is recognised that the CMLs need time to ‘bed’ 
in before a full and active core events programme can be delivered. Each must also 
consider other local community priorities to be delivered from the sites, so a degree of 
flexibility is necessary.  
 
Performance  
 
Community Managed Libraries in the main have see a drop in usage immediately after re-
opening. Experience shows that it can take up to  eighteen months to establish the library 
and community offer. Appendix 4 shows annual performance data for 2016/17; 2017/18 
and April 2018 to date. 
 
Since 2016 there has been: 
1,362,836  visits to the district’s libraries.  
1,032,637  books borrowed;  
277,775  sessions on the computers 
13,736  new borrowers.  
 
There are currently 37,663 active customers (people who have used their library ticket in 
the past year). 
 
Museums recorded 229,000 visits (Data 2017/18 up from 212,000 2016/17)  Museums 
increase is largely due to the Hockney Gallery which saw a 30% upturn in visits to 
Cartwright Hall.  Cliffe Castle Museum also around 10% up following the development of 
the park and more joined up activities between the museum and the park. 
 

 Visits 
2016/17 

Visits 
2017/18 

Current to 
date 

Cartwright Hall Art Gallery 47839 62826 44165 
Bradford Industrial Museum 59961 58438 21975 
Cliffe Castle Museum 53289 72812 44165 
Bolling Hall Museum 23279 24015 13053 

 
Income 
 
Income generated by the 10 council managed libraries and 2 hybrids stood at £134,383 in 
2017/18; the majority of this being meeting room hire, library fines, photocopying and 
printing. It was agreed at the outset that the CMLs could keep any fines gathered and use 
to enhance their offer. Some of the CMLs make use of the space outside library opening 
hours and generate income for this use from community groups. 
 
The majority of Income generated by Museums is from shop/retail activity and donations 
 

  17/18 Shop Income 16/17 Shop Income % increase  

Annual Total £66,875.98 £46,099.52  45.07% 

  17/18 Donations 16/17 Donations % Increase 

Annual Total £18,097.62 £16,479.38  9.82% 

Page 79



6 
 

 
 
Community Asset Transfers 
 
As indicated in Appendix 1 many of the libraries share space. Bradford Libraries pay costs 
for space and services in non-council buildings for Addingham, Allerton, Idle, St 
Augustine’s, Thornbury, Wilsden and Wrose.. 
 
Many of the Council buildings in which libraries are sited have also been subject to 
community asset transfers (at various stages) in the last 12 months – these being: Baildon 
Library and Ian Clough Hall; Burley Library; Clayton Library; Denholme Library and 
Devholme Mechanics Institute;  Great Horton Library and Great Horton Village Hall; Holme 
Wood Library; Menston Library and Kirklands Community Centre; Silsden Library and 
Town Hall and Thornton Library.  
  
The Manor Museum, Ilkley which closed to the public in 2015 was transferred by 
community asset transfer in September 2017 
 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL  
 
It is agreed that the Council will resource all 17 Community Managed Libraries and two 
hybrids in line with Service Level Agreements  currently in place to March 31st 2020. This 
constitutes payment of rates and utilities and/or a contribution to running costs in non-
council buildings. 

 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
The significant library budget saving of £950k in 2019/20 and Museum budget savings of 
£260,000 2019/20 will impact greatly on service provision. Work is on going to identify a 
service that can be delivered with proposed budgets, and includes embedding Community 
Managed Libraries beyond 2020. Options for alternative delivery models for Libraries and 
Museum will be considered within the Council process and agreed consultation timetable.  
 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
Local Authorities have a statutory requirement to provide a comprehensive and  efficient 
service through the provision of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964.    
   
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
N/A 
 
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY  
 
Equalities Impact Assessments were produced prior to the budget setting process which 
informed the budget decisions in 2016  
Equality Impact Assessments will be submitted against each future option going 
forward.  These will reflect the equality and diversity of each  local community associated 
with each option and also the existing groups and services (including Council services) 

Page 80



7 
 

that use Libraries to deliver their services from (ie: Family Hubs and DWP) 
 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS  
 
All library buildings have remained open. Approaches are often made for use of  library 
space (not meeting rooms) by external partners – police, job centre plus – and Council 
partners – children’s services, marketing and communication, customer services and this 
should be a consideration as the future offer changes.   
 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 
      No issues anticipated 
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  
 
      No issues anticipated.   
 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  
 
     No issues anticipated.   
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 
    No issues anticipated  
 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
Libraries and Museums are located across the district. For information they are shown by 
ward location: 
 
Museums Bowling and Barkerend (Bolling Hall Museum); Eccleshill (Industrial Museum); 
Keighley Central (Cliffe Castle); Manningham (Catwright Hall Art Gallery)  
 
 Council managed Libraries Bingley (Bingley); Bradford Moor (Laisterdyke) City (City 
Library and Local Studies); Eccleshill (Eccleshill) Ilkley(Ilkley) Keighley Central (Keighley 
Library &Local Studies);Manningham (Manningham); Shipley (Shipley); Wibsey (Wibsey 
Library), Windhill and Wrose (Wrose Library), Wyke ( Wyke Library) 
 
Hybrid Libraries Baildon (Baildon); Clayton and Fairweather Green (Clayton) 
 
Community Managed Libraries Bingley Rural (Denholme and Wilsden); Bowling and 
Barkerend (Bolling Hall and St Augustine’s); Bradford Moor (Thornbury); Craven 
(Addingham and Silsden); Great Horton (Great Horton); Heaton (Heaton hub); Idle and 
Thackley (Idle); Queensbury (Queensbury); Thornton and Allerton (Allerton and Thornton); 
Tong (Holme Wood); Wharfedale (Burley and Menston); Windhill and Wrose (Wrose).  
 
7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 

No issues anticipated 
 
 

Page 81



8 
 

7.9      ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESSM ENT 
 

No issues anticipated 
 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  
 
           None 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 

That the Library & Museum service continues to work alongside the portfolio holder 
to develop sustainable options for future service delivery.  

 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
          That Regeneration and Environment Committee consider the content of this report.      
 
11. APPENDICES 
 
           Appendix one – list and status of libraries August 2018 
           Appendix 2a – Holme Wood Library report 
           Appendix 2b – Idle Library report 
           Appendix 2c – Menston Library report 
           Appendix 2d – Promotional material Addingham, Holme Wood and Idle 
           Appendix 2e – Clayton hybrid library report  
           Appendix 3 – Core events poster   
 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
       
        None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 Tel. 
No. 

Hours 
Open 

Mon Tues Wed Thurs Fri Sat Sun 

  

 Council managed  
Bingley Library 

Myrtle Walk 
BD16 1AW 

01274 
438780 

58 9.00 - 7.00 9.00 - 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 5.00 Closed 

City Library 
Centenary 

Square 
Bradford, BD1 

1SD 
 

Bradford. Local 
Studies 

Prince’s Way 
BD1 1NN ** 

 

01274 
433600 

 
 
 
 

01274 
433688 

 

56 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9:00 – 5.00 9.00 – 5.00 Closed 

Eccleshill 
Library Bolton 

Road  
BD2 4SR 

01274  
431544 

56 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 5.00 9.00 – 5.00 Closed 

Ilkley Library 
Station Road 

LS29 8HA 

01943 
436225 

58 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00-7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 5.00 Closed 

Keighley Library 
North St 

BD21 3SX ** 
 

Keighley, Local 
Studies 

01535 
618212 

 
 

01535 
618215 

58 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 5.00 Closed 

Laisterdyke 
Library Manse 

Street 
BD3 8RP ** 

01274 
434724 

45 9.30 – 7.00 9.30 – 5.30 9.30 – 1.00 9.30 – 7.00 9.30 – 5.30 9.30 – 4.00 Closed 

Manningham 
Library Carlisle 

Road 
BD8 8BB 

01274 
435353 

55 9.30 – 7.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 7.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 7.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 7.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 4.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 4.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

12-4 
Self 

Service 
Facility 

Shipley Library 
2 Wellcroft 

BD18 3QH ** 
 

01274 
437150 

58 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 5.00 Closed 

Wibsey Library 
North Road 
BD6 1TR 

01274 
679043 

45 9.30 – 7.00 9.30 – 5.30 9.30 – 1.00 9.30 – 7.00 9.30 – 5.30 9.30 – 4.00 Closed 

Wyke Library 
Appleton 
Academy 

Woodside Road 
BD12 8AL ** 

01274 
431598 

45 9.30 – 7.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30– 5.30 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 1.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 7.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 5.30 
Self Service 

Facility 

9.30 – 4.00 
Self Service 

Facility 

Closed 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Hybrid Libraries  

  
Baildon Library. 

Hallcliffe 
BD17 6ND ** 

01274 
581425 

40 9.30-7.00 9.30-5.00 9.30-1.00 9.30-5.00 9.30-5.00 9.30-2.00 Closed 

 

 

Clayton Library 
Old School 

House 
Clayton Lane 
 BD14 6AY 

01274 
880689 

30.5 9.30 – 7.00 12.00-5.00 Closed 9.30 – 7.00 Closed 9.30 – 4.00 Closed 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 BRADFORD LIBRARIES                                                                                    Appendix 1 
 Opening hours  
 ** indicates shared premises  

Page 83



 
BRADFORD LIBRARIES 

 
 

 Tel. 
No. 

Hours 
Open 

Mon Tues Wed Thurs Fri Sat Sun 

  

Community Managed Libraries 
Addingham Library 

Main St 
LS29 0NS 

.  

07582 
102314 

8.5  9.00-12.00  2.00-5.00  9.30-12.00  

Allerton Library 
Library @ Cafe 

West 
Wanstead 
Crescent 

BD15 7PA ** 

07582 
101171 

40 9.00 – 5.00 9.00 – 5.00 9.00 – 5.00 9.00 – 5.00 9.00 – 5.00 Closed Closed 

Bolling Hall Library 
Bolling Hall 

Bolling Hall Road 
BD4 7LP ** 

07582 
108216 

27 Closed Closed 11.00 – 4.00 
Self Service 

Library 

11.00 – 4.00 
Self Service 

Library 

11.00 – 4.00 
Self Service 

Library 

10.00 – 5.00 
Self Service 

Library 

12 – 
5.00 Self 
Service 
Library 

Burley Library 
Grange Road 

Burley-in-
Wharfedale LS29 

7HD 

01943 
863714 

23 10.00 – 5.00 10.00 – 5.00 Closed 1.00 – 6.00 10.00 – 5.00 10.00 – 1.00 Closed 

Denholme Library 
Mechanics 

Institute 
BD13 4BL ** 

07958 
619532 

10 10.00 – 12.00 
 

Closed 1.30-3.30 10.00–12.00 
2.00 – 4.00 

Closed 10.00 - 
12.00 

Closed 

Great Horton 
Library 

Village Hall 
69 Beldon Road 

BD7 3PE ** 

01274 
431583/ 
07582 
100155 

20 10.00-2.00 10.00-2.00 10.00-2.00 10.00-2.00 10.00-2.00 Closed Closed 

Heaton Hub 
Library Haworth 

Road 
BD9 6LP ** 

07582 
102546 

6  10.00-2.00   10-00–2.00      
1.00 – 4.00 

   

Holmewood 
Library 

Broadstone Way  
BD4 9DY 

01274 
684012 

30 10.30-4.30 10.30-4.30 10.30-4.30 10.30-4.30 10.30-4.30 Closed Closed 

Idle Library, 
Wright Watson 
centre. Albion 

Road ** 

01274 
952057 

30 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 9.00 – 7.00 Closed Closed Closed Closed 

Menston Library 
Kirklands ** 

 

01943 
876539 

24 9.30-1.00 2.00 – 7.00 Closed 9.30-1.00 
2.00-7.00 

9.30-1.00 9.30-1.00 Closed 

Queensbury 
Library 

36 High Street 
Queensbury 
BD13 2PB 

07582 
109225 

12 9.00-12.00 Closed 3.00-6.00 2.00-5.00 Closed 10.00-1.00 Closed 

St Augustines 
Library 

Otley Road 
BD3 0DN ** 

07582 
101136 

11.5  11.00-2.00 1.00-3.00 10.30-12.30 
4.30-6.00 

 11.00-2.00 Closed 

Silsden Library 
Silsden Town Hall 

Kirkgate  
BD20 0AJ ** 

07582 
102307 

29.5 10.00-4.00 10.00-6.00 Closed 10.00-4.00 10.00-4.00 9.30-1.00 Closed 

Thornbury Library 
Thornbury Centre 
Leeds Old Road 

BD3 8JX ** 

01274 
666984 

22 9.00-12.00 
4.00-5.00 

4.00-6.00 9.00-12.00 
4.00-5.00 

9.00-12.00 
4.00-5.00 

9.00-12.00 
3.00-6.00 

10.00-12.00 Closed 

Thornton Library 
Community Centre 

Market Street 
        BD13 3HW ** 

01274 
833442 

13 Closed 2.00-5.00 10.00-2.00 Closed 1.30-5.00 9.30-12.00 Closed 

Wilsden Library 
Village Hall 

BD15 0HT ** 

07530 
714926 

9.75 Closed 9.15 - 7.00 Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed 

Wrose Library 
 Wrose Road 
BD18 1HX 

01274 
592570 

11.5 1.30 – 4.30 1.30 – 4.30 Closed 1.30 – 4.30 Closed 9.30 – 12.00 Closed 

 

Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



                        

Clayton Hybrid Library 

End of Year Report 2017 – 2018 

Overview 

Clayton Hybrid Library commenced operations on Monday 3rd April 2017. The 
Library is open to the public for 30.5 hours per week, and is a joint partnership 
between Bradford Libraries and Clayton Parish Council, having previously been 
solely run by Bradford Council. It is staffed by paid Council staff and volunteers from 
the local community. The volunteer side is overseen by a remunerated Volunteer 
Coordinator provided by the Parish Council, whilst two Team Leaders from the City 
and Local Studies Libraries have responsibility for the paid Council staff. 

Clayton Library Oversight Group 

This Group was set up as a steering committee to oversee the running of the Library. 
It convenes every two months and is an opportunity for a representative from 
Bradford Libraries Management Team, the Parish Council Chairman, the Library 
Team Leaders, the Volunteer Coordinator and representatives from Clayton 
Community Association to meet and discuss issues that have arisen. 

Communication 

Communication channels have been established between Bradford Libraries and 
Clayton Parish Council. 

• An Oversight Group (Library Manager and Team Leaders, Parish Council 
Chair, Parish Council Clerk, Library Coordinator and volunteer 
representatives. 

• Operations Meetings (Library Team Leaders and Coordinator). 
 

Volunteers 

Initially the first cohort of volunteers was taken from a list made by Clayton Parish 
Council before the hybrid library was created. Following the employment of the 
Volunteer Coordinator in April 2017, the recruitment process is application via the 

Page 105



Coordinator at Clayton Library and occasionally through Bradford Libraries. The 
following documents were created as part of the recruitment process: 

• Volunteer role description 
• Expression of interest form 
• Interview proforma (volunteer) 
• Database for recording DBS information 
• Volunteer rota document 

Staff 

Bradford Libraries staff side comprises Team Leader cover, three Customer Support 
Assistants and Casual Staff cover. 

Training and Support 

The volunteer coordinator is responsible for the induction and training of the 
volunteers at Clayton Library. Initial induction takes place in the library office in small 
groups or in a one to one session of around one and a half hours. The session 
includes an overview of Bradford Libraries and the services provided, an introduction 
to library processes including new accounts, Soprano (the library management 
system) and childrens services. New volunteers are invited to complete further 
training in data protection procedures, fire safety training and Health and Safety and 
manual handling. All new volunteers receive one to one training for several weeks 
and some of the more experienced volunteers will assist in the training of the new 
volunteers. 

Promotion of Role 

Clayton Library volunteer role was promoted on the Parish Council website; posters 
are displayed in the library and various places in the village including Doctors 
Surgeries. 

Recruitment 

During 2017/18 the volunteer recruitment can be broken down as follows: 

Volunteers on the original Parish Council list 53 
Number of original volunteers who came forward 27 
Number of original volunteers remaining 14 
New applicant requests 28 
Volunteers withdrawing from role 10 
Withdrawn before induction 1 
Withdrawn following induction 1 
Applicant not suitable for role 1 

Page 106



Expressed interest but no follow up 6 
Current number of active volunteers 25 
 

Ongoing Training 

Refresher training takes place periodically for the volunteers and the casual 
volunteers who do not cover regular slots on the rota can come into the library for 
additional training. All volunteers are provided with a task list as a benchmark for 
their training needs and an ID badge recognising their contribution as a volunteer at 
the library. Several training courses have been run throughout the year as a top-up 
and to update the volunteers of any changes. Notes and printed sheets are available 
on library procedures for the volunteers to use. Clayton Library has a communication 
log to make a note of any changes or messages of importance to staff. The 
coordinator is responsible for arranging cover on the volunteer rota and copies of this 
a month in advance are available in a folder in the library for the casual volunteers to 
fill in a slot. The coordinator contacts the volunteers by phone and email to arrange 
continuous cover. 

New Opening Hours 2018 

Bradford Libraries in partnership with Clayton Parish Council undertook a review of 
the current opening hours of Clayton Library to ensure that they better serve the 
local community. 

It was felt that by creating one longer session on Tuesday afternoon, rather than two 
shorter ones on Tuesday and Friday afternoons, the proposed hours would enable 
the library to offer more services and would provide a better opportunity to host 
events and activity sessions for the whole community. The current hours and the 
proposed alterations are set out in the table, below. These proposals were put out in 
a survey, the results of which were taken into consideration by Bradford Libraries 
and Clayton Parish Council. The new opening hours were approved and came into 
effect in June 2018. 

 Current hours Proposed hours 

Monday 9.30am-7pm 9.30am-7pm 

Tuesday 2.30pm-5pm 12.00pm-5pm 

Wednesday CLOSED CLOSED 

Thursday 9.30am-7pm 9.30am-7pm 

Friday 2.30pm-5pm CLOSED 

Page 107



Saturday 9.30am-4pm 9.30am-4pm 

.  

Improvements in the Library 

In addition to the changes made to how Clayton Hybrid Library is staffed, there have 
also been some changes made to the layout and basic infrastructure of the 
premises.  

The main development in this respect has been the creation of an office and meeting 
space within the main library room. This space incorporates workstations for the 
Volunteer Coordinator and Library staff and houses the Clayton Local History 
Groups collection. Although this was a reduction in library space, it is seen as a 
better utilization of the available space and has not resulted in any complaints being 
received. 

Basic alterations to the layout of the public counter area and the staff area have 
been made in an effort to improve both the appearance and the functionality of the 
Library space, and to make the counter DDA compatible. 

Health and Safety Issues and Improvements 

• Fire alarm system installed. Staff have been trained in the evacuation 
procedures and routine testing of the system. 

• Fence erected round boiler house to prevent access to the roof. 
• Measures taken to improve safety on path outside library 

Book Issues and PC Usage 

Clayton Library is open for 30.5 hours a week and over the period April 1st 2017 to 
31st March 2018 attracted 15703 visitors. 

A total of 18942 books were issued, of which 9268 were Adult Fiction and 1999 Adult 
Non-Fiction. Childrens Fiction accounted for 6159 issues, and Childrens Non-Fiction 
1516. 

Events and Activities 

Regular Thursday morning Storytimes have been complimented by the introduction 
this year of Rhymetime sessions. The sessions are alternated on a fortnightly basis. 
The Volunteer Coordinator and some of the Volunteers observed the Rhymetime 
Sessions held at City Library and were provided with a CD player and Rhymetime 
CD to help them run the sessions. These have proved to be a popular and 
worthwhile addition to the Library offer. 

Page 108



Clayton took part in the annual Summer Reading Challenge. This is a scheme rolled 
out across all Bradford Libraries. The 2017 theme was “Animal Agents” and 
encouraged children who signed up to the scheme to read at least six books in order 
to collect rewards, and ultimately receive a gold medal and certificate. Events were 
held in conjunction with the scheme, including visits from The Dogs Trust the ever 
popular Zoolab.  

For the 2018 Summer Reading Challenge there are seven events planned 
throughout August for participating children. 

A Teddy Bears Picnic was held inside (and outside!) the library as part of the 
Bookstart scheme. Children enjoyed stories, rhymes, songs and crafts, and the 
event was very well attended. 

During the Easter and Spring Bank Holidays, craft events took place at Clayton 
Library for pre-school and primary aged local children. 

In May, a volunteer and staff celebratory tea was held by Clayton Parish Council’s 
Events Committee in recognition of all the hard work done by all as a Hybrid Library, 
over the past 12 months and was well attended. 

School Classes and Visits 

Clayton Library welcomed a Key Stage 1 class visit of approximately 30 children and 
their teacher where a storytime session took place, followed by craft activities. 

Proposals For The Future / Increased Offer 

• A creative writing and poetry workshop for adults is planned. 
• Planned displays for promotion of Summer Reading Challenge events. 
• Scope for using experienced volunteers to run drop-in sessions for family 

history and archives. 
• Investment to present sensory learning sessions for students and adults with 

special educational needs. 

 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115



P
age 116



P
age 117



P
age 118



P
age 119



P
age 120



 

 

 
 

Report of the Strategic Director of Place to the me eting 
of the Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to be held on 2 nd October 2018 

O 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Update on the Council’s involvement in residential High Rise Buildings following 
the Grenfell Tower disaster 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report provides a further update for members o f the Council’s involvement with 
high rise residential buildings following the Grenf ell Tower disaster. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Steve Hartley 
Strategic Director of Place 

Portfolio:   
 
Regeneration, Housing, Planning and 
Transport 
 

Report Contact:  Justin Booth, Principal 
Building Control Surveyor 
Phone: (01274) 434716 
E-mail: justin.booth@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Regeneration and Environment 

Page 121

Agenda Item 9/



 

 

1. SUMMARY 
 
 This report provides a further update for members of the Council’s involvement with 
 high rise residential buildings following the Grenfell Tower disaster. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Members last received an update on the Council’s involvement with high rise 
 residential buildings in March 2018 at a time when the investigations across the 
 district were incomplete.  This report provides an update on activity since that date. 
 
2.2 Following a review of over 300 structures over 18 meters high, 36 high rise 
 residential blocks were identified in the District.  Subsequent investigations relating 
 to these 36 buildings, involving examination of technical information relating to the 
 external cladding materials and inspection and testing of the cladding material 
 where necessary, have identified that 2 of the 36 buildings are partially clad with 
 aluminium composite material (ACM).   
 
2.3 Council officers have worked with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
 Government (MHCLG) Building Safety Programme and Tower Casework Teams to 
 record on the Ministry’s DELTA database system the details of all the high rise 
 blocks’ external construction. 
 
2.4 The two blocks identified are, at the time of writing, subject to “interim measures” in 
 line with the guidance issued by MHCLG following joint inspection by the Council’s 
 Housing Standards and Building Control Teams in partnership with the West 
 Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service (WYFRS).  These interim measures are 
 intended to minimise the fire risk to occupants but are considered a temporary 
 measure.  
 
 The Council has stressed the need for those responsible for the buildings to ensure 
 that residents are kept informed of the measures in place to ensure their continued 
 safety. 
 
2.5 The ACM materials that partially clad the two buildings will need to be removed and 
 replaced.  The costs of such works are significant, with estimates for the works 
 varying dependent on the requirements relating to the upgrading of the thermal 
 insulation of the buildings as well as the replacement of the cladding. 
 
2.6 The Government has made funding available to support Councils and Registered 
 providers to replace ACM cladding on buildings that they own and manage as 
 social housing but as these two building are almost entirely in private ownership, 
 the cost of removing and replacing the ACM cladding will be the responsibility of 
 those persons in control of the building. 
 
2.7 The enforcement of standards in high rise residential building is complex.  
 Responsibility for the enforcement of those standards is divided between the 
 Council (Building Control and Housing) and WYFRS.   Due to the complexities and 
 potential overlaps between the legislation enforced by the Council’s Housing 
 Service and WYFRS both organisations, along with other West Yorkshire uthorities 
 had, prior to the Grenfell disaster entered into a formal agreement known as the 

Page 122



 

 

 Fire Protection Policy.  Originally issued on the  01/11/2011, this policy document 
 outlines the authority that will normally take the lead in inspection and enforcement 
 action in different types of property, regardless  of tenure.  The document has been 
 reviewed and agreed by all parties following the Grenfell disaster. 
 
 The legislation enforced by both authorities relating to fire safety is risk based. 
 
2.8 Since the Grenfell disaster a number of letters of clarification have been received 
 from the MHCLG and WYFRS relating to the enforcement of standards relating to 
 the external cladding of high rise residential buildings. 
 
 In practice, because of the joint statutory responsibilities in this type of building in 
 order to fully assess the hazard of fire safety a joint inspection involving WYFRS, 
 Housing Standards  and Building Control is undertaken as the assessment requires 
 information from all 3 services.  Any enforcement required will then be undertaken 
 by the lead authority following consultation between all 3 services. 
 
2.9 Officers from the Council and WYFRS are monitoring both buildings to  
 ensure that the interim measures remain in operation as agreed.  These measures 
 are however only intended as an “interim” arrangement and officers are therefore 
 continuing to monitor the progress that those responsible for the buildings are 
 making with plans to remove and replace the ACM cladding. 
 
2.10 In line with the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (formally agreed at 
 Executive on November 7th 2017) officers are seeking to ensure compliance with 
 statutory requirements through co-operation in the first instance. 
 
2.11 The Government has funded a number of services to assist with this highly complex 
 matter.  This includes funding to assist leaseholders to interpret lease terms and the 
 formation of a Joint Inspection Team which will be hosted by the Local Government 
 Association.  This team will comprise Environmental Health Officers, Fire Engineers 
 and Legal advisors and is intended to act as a Centre of Excellence to assist Local 
 Authorities should they need to enforce the removal of cladding.  The Joint 
 Inspection Team is expected to be in place in Autumn 2018. 
 
 Officers will continue to work closely with MHCLG to update and access such 
 services as necessary. 
 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The investigation into the Grenfell Tower disaster will, in time, produce 

recommendations to further protect the residents in tower blocks. Those 
recommendations will include changes to the Building Regulations and the powers 
of local authorities to enforce safety standards, especially through the creation of 
Joint Competent Authorities to oversee the safety of a high risk building from its 
inception through to its demolition. There may well be resource implications for local 
authorities as the standards and the expectation of inspection and enforcement 
activity is escalated.  
` 
The constitution of Joint Competent Authorities will require the local authority to 

Page 123



 

 

have the technical expertise to undertake that function. 
 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL  
 
4.1 The Government’s view is that the costs of replacing ACM cladding on privately 
 owned buildings are the responsibility of building owners.  Nationally there are 
 many and complex legal arguments ongoing between developers, owners and 
 leaseholders as to where the responsibility lies. 
 
 Should the Council have to utilise its enforcement powers to ensure the removal 
 and replacement of the cladding there could be significant resource implications. 
 
4.2 The government has been clear that no additional resource will be made available 
 to Councils for the work involved in dealing with the district’s high rise buildings, 
 other than a small amount of “new burdens” funding to facilitate the data collection 
 required by the MHCLG. 
 
4.3 Dame Judith’s report, “Independent Review of Building and Fire Safety” raises the 

issue of the competence of those involved with high risk buildings. The council will 
need to fund the continuing training and development of the skills needed to carry 
out its  statutory duties. 

 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 As already outlined the enforcement of standards in high rise residential building is 
 complex.  Officers from the Council and WYFRS will continue to work together to 
 deal with the issues identified with these buildings and will access the LGA 
 hosted Joint Inspection Team, when established,  as necessary should the need to 
 formally enforce standards arise.  
 
5.2 Further to the report of the 6th March 2018, the report by Dame Judith Hackitt 
 entitled “Independent Review of Building and Fire Safety” has now been published. 
 The report makes many recommendations including the creation of Joint 
 Competent Authorities (JCA) to oversee the safety in high rise residential block 
 from their construction through to their demolition.  JCAs will be made up of 
 representatives of the Fire & Rescue Service, the Local Authority and the Health & 
 Safety Executive The proposal to create JCAs will cause a draw on the resources 
 of local authorities with tall buildings in their district as there will need to employ the 
 requisite expertise.  The intention is to make the JCA self-financing through charges 
 on the buildings’ management.  
 

The introduction of JCAs and their associated powers will require a Statutory 
Instrument to be introduced before it can come into force. In the meantime, the 
existing legislation is the only tool available for the council to safeguard the 
residents in the effected blocks. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 124



 

 

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
6.1 The legislation enforced by both authorities relating to fire safety is risk based.  
 Since the Grenfell disaster a number of letters of clarification have been received 
 from the MHCLG and WYFRS relating to the enforcement of standards relating to 
 the external cladding of high rise residential buildings. 
 
 In practice, because of the joint statutory responsibilities in this type of building in 
 order to fully assess the hazard of fire safety a joint inspection involving WYFRS, 
 Housing Standards  and Building Control is undertaken as the assessment requires 
 information from all 3 services.  Any enforcement required will then be undertaken 
 by the lead authority following consultation between all 3 services. 
 
 
6.2 Enforcement action will be complicated and time consuming due to the number of 
 flats involved and the complex nature of the buildings and ownership.  Should 
 formal enforcement action be required the Council would seek to utilise the 
 expertise of the newly formed LGA hosted team.  

 
 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY  
 
 The improvement of housing conditions in the District will have a positive impact on 

those groups and individuals who suffer multiple disadvantages associated with 
poor quality and inadequate housing. 

 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS  
 

The interventions that Building Control, Housing Standards and WYFRS take to 
improve the quality of the housing will help to create a more sustainable housing 
stock for the  district.   

 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

 Further amendments to the legislation and required technical standards applying to 
 the introduction of additional thermal insulation may reduce the achievable levels of 
 energy savings. The likely introduction of a requirement for insulation materials to 
 be non-combustible will curtail the use of the highly thermally efficient foamed 
 polyisocyanates. The currently available non-combustible substitutes are mostly 
 based on mineral fibre which does not have as good a thermal resistance. 

.  
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  
 

The removal of potentially combustible cladding from the exterior shell of residential 
properties provides for a higher safety standard for the residents. 

 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  

Page 125



 

 

 
 No implications under the Human Rights Act have been identified. 
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 
 No Trade Union implications have been identified. 
 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The Council and WYFRS work to address any issues with high rise residential 
 buildings across the district. 
 
 
7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Any data gathered in order to ensure compliance with legislative requirements will 
be the minimum for the needs of the process.  

 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  
 

None 
 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
9.1 Option 1 – that the Committee note the report. 
 
9.2 Option 2 – that the Committee note the report and request a further update on 
 the work relating to high rise residential buildings in 12 months. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That the Committee note the report and request a further update on the work 
 relating to high rise residential buildings in 12 months. 
 
11. APPENDICES 
 

 None  
 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 

None. 
 
 

Page 126



 
 

Report of the Director of Place to the meeting of 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to be held on 2 nd October 2018 

P 
 
 
Subject:   
 
Waste Management Finances 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
Following a referral from Corporate Overview and Sc rutiny Committee, this report 
sets out the background to the budget pressures bei ng faced within waste 
management, the current overspend projections, and the actions planned to 
address and recover the position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
Steve Hartley 
Strategic Director of Place 

Portfolio:   
 
Cllr Sarah Ferriby 
 

Report Contact:  John Major 
Phone: (01274) 434748 
E-mail: john.major@bradford.gov.uk 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Regeneration and Environment 

Page 127

Agenda Item 10/



1 
 

1. SUMMARY 
 

Following a referral from Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, this report 
sets out the background to the budget pressures being faced within waste 
management, the current overspend projections, and the actions planned to address 
and recover the position.  

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Council’s Waste Management service has statutory responsibilities for the 

following:  
 

• kerbside collections of residual household waste from residents 
• kerbside collections of recycling from residents; 
• bulky waste collections upon request from residents (paid for service); 
• clinical waste collections upon request; 
• provision of Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) across the district; 

and 
• provision of a network of community recycling sites known as Bring Sites. 

.  
In addition to the above, the service also provides the following non statutory 
services: 

 
• Kerbside collection of garden waste (a non-statutory paid for service upon 

request); 
• Chemical advisory services to residents;  
• Trade waste services to commercial businesses (paid for service); and 
• Clinical waste collections to commercial businesses (paid for service). 

 
All the above services are provided by in house operations, which are supported by 
several external contracts with the private sector for treatment of recyclates, residual 
waste and disposal services. The primary contract is for the treatment of the 
Council’s residual waste. 

 
2.2 National Waste Targets 

The service has statutory targets to meet in relation to the management of the 
collected waste: 

 
• EU Landfill Directive 
 The 2020 target requires that municipal waste sent for landfill disposal must 

reduce to no more than 35%; 
 
• Value Recovery 
 75% value recovery target for municipal waste in 2020;  
 
• Recycling 
 A target of 50% recycling of household waste by 2020 as measured by National 

Indicator NI 192 is required.  
  

Page 128



2 
 

 
2.3 Residual Waste Treatment Contract 

The withdrawal by DEFRA in February 2013 of financial credit support for the Waste 
PFI procurement for the treatment of residual waste resulted in the Executive 
decision on 4th February 2014 to cancel the PFI procurement, and for a new waste 
strategy to be developed which would lead to a new procurement. This new waste 
strategy (Municipal Waste Minimisation and Management Strategy – MWM&MS) was 
developed and subsequently adopted by the Executive on 13th January 2015. This 
strategy included the nature and scope of a new procurement to secure affordable, 
dependable and sustainable waste treatment and disposal services for the district’s 
residual waste from 2017/18, when the present interim contract ended. A new 
procurement commenced in April 2015, and concluded in September 2017. 

 
The new contract between the Council and the winning bidder AWM was formally 
signed on 21st September 2017, with an operational start date of 1st April 2018. The 
contract term is 12 years to 2030, worth £165m. 

 
2.4 Kerbside Collections 

The collection service moved during 2017 from a weekly collection of residual waste 
and a fortnightly collection of recyclates requiring 28 residual rounds and 13 recycling 
rounds: a total of 41 collection rounds, to an Alternate Weekly Collection  regime 
(AWC) where residual is collected on one week, and recycling the next, requiring 
only 34 rounds, a saving of 7 rounds. Further details on AWC are given in 2.13 
below.   

 
2.5 Kerbside Recycling 

As part of the move to AWC, there has been an increase in the types of recyclates 
collected at the kerbside, which has also dispensed with the caddy insert, meaning 
all the recycling is simply deposited by the householder into the grey coloured 
recycling bin, which makes Bradford’s system one of the simplest for the 
householder to use.  

 
2.6 Garden Waste Collections 

This is a non statutory paid for service which commenced in June 2016, and has 
proved very popular, with an established customer base of around 35,000 customers 
signing up for the service. This service currently utilises 4 collection rounds using 26 
tonne gross weight refuse collection vehicles. This provides a 12 x 4 weekly 
collection cycle, with no collections from early December to early January. The 
present annual charge for this service is £36 paid for up front. The collected green 
waste is sent for composting. 

 
2.7 Bulky Waste Collections 

This service is provided to domestic residents via a request system, for which an up-
front charge is levied. The scale of charges relates to the number of items requiring 
removal, and a collection date is now provided at the point of service request. 
Collections are provided by a single team working Tuesday to Friday, with demand 
for the service remaining fairly consistent at some 10,000 requests producing around 
1,100 tonnes annually. 
 
 

Page 129



3 
 

2.8 Clinical Waste Collections (domestic) 
The Council has a duty to collect certain clinical waste free of charge from residents 
who are treating themselves at home. The service uses a single driver/operative and 
a specialised collection vehicle.  

 
2.9 Chemical Advisory Service 
 The chemical advisory service (via one operative and a van) provides to 

householders within the district an inspection, consignment, and transportation 
service to correctly collect and dispose of small quantities of unwanted hazardous 
wastes that may be found at domestic premises, such as: 

 
• Chemicals; 
• Pharmaceuticals; 
• Herbicides; 
• Poisons; 
• Chemical reagents; 
• Unidentified powders and liquids. 

 
This service also collects hazardous waste (as listed above) deposited by the public 
into special purpose containers located at the Household Waste Recycling Centres 
(see below). The service also undertakes some commercial collections to other 
establishments within the district, such as Schools and Hospitals. 

 
2.10 Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) 

The Council currently provides household waste and recycling services to the 
district’s residents at eight locations across the district. These sites are staffed and 
open 362 days per year, providing a wide range of containers to encourage 
recycling, and accepting waste not normally removed by the refuse collection 
service. A van permit scheme was introduced in 2006 to combat abuse of such sites 
by traders. In 2013 a residents’ only permit scheme was introduced to control cross 
border activity. Originally permits had to be obtained from any of the 8 sites. By the 
end of 2016 some 90,000 permits had been issued. However this has now changed 
with every household in the district issued with a permit as part of the annual council 
tax papers sent to all 225,000 households in March 2017. This now makes HWRC 
permits universally available to all our residents, and encourages responsible 
management of domestic wastes and promotes greater recycling. This initiative was 
also important in supporting the move to AWC later in 2017. 

 
Materials accepted at HWRCs include; residual waste, paper, cardboard, metal, 
glass, green waste, wood, plastics, cartons, tyres, shoes, textiles, books, oil (both 
engine oil and vegetable oil), paints, carpets, mattresses, plaster board, push bikes 
(which go to a reuse scheme) soil bricks and rubble, polystyrene, batteries, light 
bulbs, florescent tubes, electrical equipment and unwanted household chemicals. 
Certain HWRCs, with prior notice, also accept tyres, gas bottles and bonded 
asbestos waste from residents.  

 
These sites also provide a local outlet for some precinct sweepers to reduce their 
travel time to tip. 

 
 

Page 130



4 
 

2.11 Bring Sites 
Bring sites are a network of mini-recycling sites which provide a series of recycling 
banks often located in public areas, such as supermarket car parks.  There are 45 
sites with varying numbers of recycle Banks across the district which provide facilities 
for residents to recycle glass bottles, jars, textiles, plastic bottles, paper, cans etc. 
The Bring Sites provide a valuable service to residents who do not have room for 
recycle bins, they also reinforce the message that Bradford Council is trying to make 
it as easy as possible for all residents to recycle. 

 
2.12 The Bin Policy 

The Domestic Waste & Recycling Policy (aka the Bin Policy) was successfully rolled 
out across the whole district in late 2015. The policy specifies how domestic waste 
and recycling will be collected by the Council, and formed an essential intermediate 
step to achieving AWC. The policy requires 1 residual bin per property, no side 
waste, recyclable materials to be placed in the recycling bin and follow up 
enforcement for non compliance. The policy continues to operate, its aim being to 
support the diversion of a greater percentage of recyclable waste from the residual 
(green) bin to the recyclable (grey) bin at the kerbside. The policy only allows the 
emptying of one 240L residual (green) bin per household, or one 360L (for a 
household with 7 or more residents) and no side waste or overfilled bins presented at 
the kerbside every other week.   

 
2.13 Alternate Weekly Collection   

To make the bin collection service more efficient by removing the need for 13 
dedicated recycling rounds (leaving a net total of 28 rounds), boost recycling and 
reduce the amount of waste going to landfill, in October 2016 a trial of AWC  across 
the Wyke Ward areas was undertaken, which was a great success, however the 
extra waste on the residual week required extra runs to the tip, which reduced the 
collection round productivity, and thus increased the number of collection rounds 
needed to service the whole district from 28 to 33.  As such the trial demonstrated 
that all in one recycling worked, residual and recycling rounds could mirror each 
other, thus the same vehicle and crew could collect both the residual and recyclates 
using the standard 3 axle, 26 tonne gross weight, refuse collection vehicles with a 
driver and two loaders. Owing to property growth a further round has been 
established in 2018, giving a total of 34 rounds, a net saving of 7 rounds over the 
previous arrangement. 
 

 
In order to assist residents in the preparation for the move to AWC, all in one 
recycling was introduced in February 2017 prior to the commencements of AWC 
across the Keighley areas on the 2nd May 2017, similarly all in one recycling was 
introduced in Bradford in May prior to commencement of AWC on the 2 July 2017. 

 
This means all residents have the same collection day but on alternate weeks for 
both residual and recycling. The same crews and vehicles follow the same rounds 
each week just collecting a different bin which means we have a more consistent, 
efficient and cheaper waste collection service. 

 
 
 

Page 131



5 
 

 
 
2.14 MRF 

In order to support the all in one recycling initiative, a sortation facility was required, 
and a Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) located at the existing Bowling Back Lane 
site was established and developed. A mix of mechanical and manual picking 
separates out various recyclates and contamination, to produce mixed glass, 
cardboard, mixed papers, steel tins/can, alloy tins/cans and mixed plastics, which are 
then sold to various recycling merchants for which an income is received. 

 
2.15 Engagement and behavioural change  

Changing resident behaviours through education, engagement and enforcement is 
seen as key to increase recycling and reducing residual waste at the kerbside. 
Equally a systematic and consistent approach to communications across the district 
in respect to waste and waste management is also required. This is achieved 
through a wide range of formats i.e. leaflets/posters/letters/stickers/website/ 
press/radio/CouncilAPP/Facebook/Twitter/Stay-Connected/ and Road shows held at 
various events throughout the district.     

 
2.16 Recycling Advisors  

The promotion of recycling and waste minimisation is a vital part of reducing the 
amount of residual waste the Bradford District needs to dispose of. We have four 
Recycling Advisors who work across the District visiting households and advising 
them of how to manage their waste in line with the Bin Policy. This has proved to be 
an invaluable way of engaging with residents – the advisors will look at the 
households needs and advise them on how they can reduce the amount of residual 
waste they produce by simply recycling. They also advise on what items can be 
recycled and will order as many recycling bins as the residents need to manage their 
waste effectively. The recycling advisors will also visit residents who have requested 
a larger 360L residual bin to ensure the household meets the criteria of 7 or more 
residents in the property as set out in the Bin Policy.   

 
2.17 In cab technology  

In-cab tablets have now been installed into the refuse collection vehicles. This allows 
the crews to view their rounds and input information that is then received directly into 
the contact centre in real time. This information enables the contact centre staff to 
deal with queries from residents with the most up to date information. The crews are 
also able to report any instances of residents not complying with the Bin Policy which 
enables a very efficient way of processing the information. This in turn supports the 
enforcement staff processing and tracking compliance with the Bin Policy. The 
technology also supports the Operational Managers to more effectively manage 
workload and respond much quicker e.g. when a collection vehicle breakdown 
occurs, to minimise disruption to services. We are now seeing a decrease in the 
number of reported missed bins and the need to return to collect as crew’s record 
when bins are not put out/if there is side waste or extra bins which in turn assists with 
the Enforcement process of the Bin Policy.  

 
  

Page 132



6 
 

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

In planning for the current and future delivery of waste collection and disposal, the 
service has to make assumptions and predictions about a number of variables that 
are not within the control of the service, all of which can have very significant 
budgetary implications. 

 
3.1 Tonnes of Waste 

The budget has an assumed level of tonnes to be managed, however levels of 
prosperity, economic growth, and increases in new properties all create upward 
pressures on waste, for example each additional household will create an additional 
tonne of household waste that needs to be managed. 

 
Equally factors such as weather and national events (e.g. Football World Cup) 
significantly impact on volumes of waste produced. Additionally, and most 
importantly, resident behaviour dictates the quantities of waste produced and the 
proportion of such that is actually recycled. The Council can, and does try to 
influence such behaviour but it cannot control it.  

 
3.2 Commodity Prices 

The markets for recyclates is traded internationally, and are subject to a degree of 
volatility. The announcement by China at new year to limit inputs of recyclates has 
caused the market for many recyclables to become depressed, resulting in the 
required quality standards of recyclates going up whilst at the same time prices going 
down, this has affected negatively the budgeted income from recyclate sales. 

 
 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL  
 
4.1 Performance against Statutory Targets 
 

The service has undertaken a number of initiatives, to meet or exceed statutory 
targets set for 2020, and achieve budget reductions.  

 
• Waste Strategy adopted by the Executive in January 2015, AWC was not under 

consideration at that time. 
• In 2016, a budget decision was taken to implement AWC when the DEFRA 

funding requirement ended. 
• Introduced a bin policy as a necessary precursor to AWC in November 2015. 
• AWC was devised, planned and rolled out within a 12 month time frame and 

commenced in May 2017 and fully completed by July 2018. 
• With the exception of 400 City Centre domestic dwellings all other domestic 

dwellings have moved to AWC, 224,600 properties – unique compared to most 
other cities given the number of high rise properties.  

• AWC develops behaviour change by limiting capacity to force residual reduction 
and thereby increase recycling. 

• At the end of a 2 year procurement process, the new 12 Year Residual Waste 
Treatment contract commenced in April 2018.  

• Introduced a chargeable Garden Waste Service in June 2016, now in year 3, 
with a stable customer base of circa 35,000 clients. 

Page 133



7 
 

• Trade Waste Review undertaken to ensure income targets were achieved. 
• A complete restructure of the Waste Service has just been completed to meet 

evolving future needs taking account of one of the fastest growing populations 
across the UK. 

• Revised budget coding structures developed and implemented to make budgets 
more transparent in relation to spend and provide greater controls. 

 
The outcome of these initiatives on statutory targets is largely a positive one. 

 
% waste to landfill –  statutory target 35% 

 
The guaranteed landfill disposal performance under the Residual Waste treatment 
Contract is no more than 10% going to landfill, current performance 7.7%. 

 
% value recovery from waste – statutory target 75% 

 
Guarantees under the Residual Waste Treatment Contract will ensure this target is 
exceeded, current performance 92.3% 

 
% recycling of household waste – statutory target 5 0% 
Current performance 37% 

 
The Residual Waste treatment Contract will guarantee a 6% contribution to this 
target, which when added to our upstream performance (which predominantly 
includes kerbside recycling and HWRC recycling) is expected to see our indicator 
exceed 40% at current performance levels for 2018/19. 

 
However nationally (England) recycling targets have stalled over the last 3 years at 
44%, and more effort will be needed to meet the 50% target by 2020. However the 
overall direction of travel for Bradford at the kerbside is positive as shown below: 

 
Increase Recycling – Kerbside 

 2015/16 - 17,977 tpa (contamination evident but not measured) 
 2016/17 -  20,603 tpa (contamination evident but not measured) 
 2017/18  - 29,536 tpa (of which 38% is contaminated) 
 

Reduce Residual - Kerbside 
 2015/17 - 132,497 tpa 
 2016/17  - 127,437 tpa 
 2017/18 - 108,117 tpa 
 

The outcome on budgetary savings is less positive, however it is much better than if 
the initiatives stated had not been implemented. The reasons for this are several and 
complex, but can be broken down and summarised as follows: 
 
Contamination 
Contamination levels of kerbside collected recycling were much higher than 
anticipated at 38%.. This is as a result of some residents inadvertently contaminating 
recyclates as well as what appears to be deliberate use of the recycling bin for the 
deposit of hidden residual waste. 

Page 134



8 
 

 
MRF Speed of Throughput 
Significant levels of contamination have impacted negatively on the speed of the 
MRF, resulting in it being unable to process all of the district’s recyclates. This has 
required a combination of an additional shift at the MRF plus use of a third party 
outlet. These costs were not foreseen and hence not budgeted for, however it was 
assumed that reduction in residual disposal costs would accommodate these costs. 
 
Trommel Purchase 
Once the above position became clear, a trommel to take out contamination at the 
front end of the MRF was determined to be the most effective way of speeding up the 
capacity of the MRF. This in turn would enable the removal of the second shift as 
well as the necessity for a 3rd party outlet to the point where we would be able to 
handle “in house” all recyclates produced within the district and recover the value of 
such. 

 
The Council entered into a procurement for such a trommel at the end of 2017 and it 
was due to be operational by September 2018, however the Contractor has been 
unable  to deliver within the terms of the contract and it will not now be in place this 
financial year. 
 
Property Growth 
The continued growth in new properties across the district creates its own challenges 
by creating increasing levels of both residual waste and recylates that must be 
managed, this has, and will continue to create a need for additional refuse collection 
rounds. The District Plan target is to deliver 8,000 new homes by 2020, and the Local 
Plan Core Strategy adopted in July 2017, records 42,100 new homes are needed 
between 2013 and 2030. 

 
4.2 Projected Budget Pressures 
 

In summary, the above has created the following budget pressures for 2018/19: 
 

Residual Waste Treatment Contract annual indexation increase is funded, but 
tonnages beyond planned budget are not. 

 
Increased costs owing to increases in property growth including disposal and 
collection costs (which includes extra vehicles and staff). Each new household 
produces approx. 1 tonne of waste per annum at an approx cost of £100 p/t to 
manage. 
 
Shortfall in projected savings in 2017/18 and 2018/19 of  
refuse collection rounds following introduction of AWC  
(only 7 rounds reduced rather than13)     £900,000 
        
Additional unbudgeted costs as a result of the trommel not  
being in place by September 2018 therefore requiring 2nd  
shift and 3rd Party transfers to continue into 2019/20      £550,000 

 
 

Page 135



9 
 

Overall residual waste running at higher than predicted levels  
(10,000 tpa) made up of increases at HWRC and contaminated  
recycling bins.                            £1,200,000 
 
Income from recyclates sales lower than budgeted due to 

 global pressures on recycling markets.        £350,000 
 
 
4.3 Planned Budget Recovery Actions 

The Waste Management service has in response to the identified budget pressures 
determined the following actions aimed at bringing about reduced residual waste, 
increased recycling and reduced contamination of recyclates to a target of  20%  

 
- Education - raising awareness and education campaigns regarding recycling 

continue with the Recycling Ambassador's launch due in conjunction with 
recycling week 24th September 2018. 

 
- Continued enforcement - the number of S46 Enforcement Notices for 

contamination of recycling bins are currently Bradford – 3095,  Keighley – 515. 
None have moved to stage 2 of the enforcement policy, however there are 
difficulties in controlling and easily identifying what may be buried within a 
recycling bin. Enforcement of the bin policy continues. 

 
- In advance of a final decision on the future MRF/Trommel arrangements, 

reviewing  alternative options to current MRF operation to increase capacity, 
reduce costs of utilising a 3rd party contractor and derive greatest income for the 
districts recyclates. 5 day x 24 hour operation and 7 day working are currently 
under consideration.  

 
- Continue with “positive pick” of highest value recyclates at MRF to deliver high 

quality materials that enable spot marketing of recyclate contracts to outlets that 
deliver best price at a time when many authorities are struggling to find markets 
for their recyclates. 

 
- A soft market test to identify third party interest in processing/sorting our kerbside 

recyclates (with indicative costs) has been undertaken and is currently being 
analysed. Findings will be used to inform decision on future MRF/Trommel 
arrangements within the Council and if control/processing of our own recyclates 
and derivation of value is the most cost effective approach.  

 
- On-going review of undelivered trommel procurement to determine if it will 

proceed within procurement rules and budget parameters. Alongside this, a 
revised specification is under consideration in the event that we will need to go to 
the market for a new procurement. 

 
- As part of the current review of the Council’s Waste Strategy, we will consider 

opportunities afforded by the circular economy and scan the horizon for 
innovative approaches to Waste Collection such as “Binnovation”/FutureGov. 

  

Page 136



10 
 

 
- Complete the roll out of “in-cab” technology to all operational waste vehicles and 

continue to exploit better use of IT to improve front facing operational services as 
well as back office efficiencies. 
 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES  
 
 Failure to stay within budget creates on-going pressures that must be managed. The 

Waste Service faces many challenges that are not within its control and that create 
budget pressures. Recovery plans need to be sufficiently flexible and responsive and 
constantly reviewed to ensure that the Council is responding as quickly as possible 
to dynamic waste changes and volatile markets for recyclates.   

 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL  
 

There are potentially commercial sensitivities which may form the basis of discussion 
when considering this report. This may require the Chair to consider at that point 
during any discussion, if the meeting should be adjourned and continued in private 
session. 

 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY  
 
 There are no negative equality and diversity implications apparent within the context 

of the report. 
 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS  
 

The correct management of household waste contributes positively towards the 
sustainable agenda. 

 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

The treatment and disposal of waste will create greenhouse gas emissions, it is 
important to minimise these, or mitigate their impact. This is best achieved by 
minimising the disposal of waste to landfill in favour of more sustainable means, e.g. 
the minimisation, recycling and recovery of value from wastes are all central to the 
activities undertaken within waste management, as can be seen from the 
performance values detailed in this report. 

 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  
 

N/A 
 
  

Page 137



11 
 

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  
 

N/A 
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 

There are no specific Trade Union implications arising from this report at this time. 
Employment issues could arise when the hours of operation of the MRF or changes 
to staff terms and conditions are subject to possible change however these would be 
fully consulted upon through the Councils normal IR arrangements at that time.   

 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no individual Ward implications. 
 
7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS  

(for reports to Area Committees only) 
 
 N/A 
 
7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
 N/A 
 
7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT 
 
 There are no known privacy issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  
 
 None 
 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 

This report is brought forward for consideration at the request of the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Recommended –  
 
10.1 That Members  consider the breadth and complexity of activities that go into 

delivering a comprehensive Waste Collection and Disposal service to the Bradford 
District.  

  
10.2 That Members  consider the significant work that has been undertaken thus far to 

deliver and embed an Alternate Weekly Collection Service for residual and recycled 

Page 138



12 
 

materials. 
 
10.3 That Members recognise the efforts of  households within the district who recycle as 

much as possible of their household waste and urges all households to redouble 
their efforts. 

 
10.4 That Members recognise that contamination of recyclates is an area that must 

improve and supports officers in undertaking all possible steps to support the public 
to recycle more whilst utilising appropriate enforcement where that is necessary. 

 
10.5 That Members support officers in identifying and implementing options as quickly as 

possible to take the most cost effective control of the districts recyclates and reduce 
the pressures on the Councils Waste Budget.       

 
 
11. APPENDICES 
 

None 
 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 

Appendix 1 Executive Report 4 February, 2014 “Waste PFI” 
Appendix 2 Overview and Scrutiny Report 2 September, 2014 part 2 “Waste 

Strategy” 
Appendix 3 Executive Report Jan 2015 new “MWM&MS” 
Appendix 4 Overview and Scrutiny Reports 31 October, 2017  

-  “Outcome of the Procurement for Waste Treatment Services” 
- “The management of waste and recycling activities with the District” 

Appendix 5 Overview and Scrutiny Report 21 November, 2017 “Performance 
Outturn Report for Waste Management 2016/17”  

 
 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Report of the Chair of the Regeneration & Environme nt 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 
Tuesday 2 October 2018 

Q 
 
Subject:   
 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Work 
Programme 2018-19 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report includes the Regeneration and Environme nt Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee work programme for 2018/19.   
 

Cllr Rizwana Jamil 
Chair – Regeneration & Environment  
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Portfolio:   
 
Health People and Places, Regeneration, 
Planning and Transport, Environment and 
Waste. 
 

Report Contact:  Mustansir Butt/Licia 
Woodhead 
Overview and Scrutiny Lead 
Phone: (01274) 432574/432119 
Email: mustansir.butt@bradford.gov.uk 
licia.woodhead@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Regeneration & Environment 

Page 141

Agenda Item 11/



 

1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report includes the Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee work programme for 2018/19, which is attached as appendix 1 to this 
report.  

 
 
2. BACKGROUND  
 
2.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required by the Constitution of the 

Council to prepare a work programme (Part 3E – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules, Para 1.1). 

 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the 

responsibility for “the strategies, plans, policies, functions and services directly 
relevant to the corporate priorities about creating a more prosperous district and 
about improving waste management, neighbourhood services and the 
environment.” (Council Constitution, Part 2, 6.5.1 and 6.6.1). 

 
3.2 Best practice published by the Centre for Public Scrutiny suggests that “work 

programming should be a continuous process”.  It is important to review work 
programmes, so that important or urgent issues that arise during the year are able 
to be scrutinised.  Furthermore, at a time of limited resources, it should also be 
possible to remove areas of work which have become less relevant or timely.  For 
this reason, it is proposed that the Committee’s work programme be regularly 
reviewed by members of the committee throughout the municipal year.  
 

3.3 The remit of this Committee also includes the strategies, plans, functions and 
services directly relevant to the corporate priorities about reducing carbon 
emissions, transport and highways, creating a greener and more sustainable 
environment and positively affecting climate change. 

 
3.4 The work programme as agreed by the Committee will form the basis for the 

Committee’s work during the year, but will be amended as issues arise during the 
year. 

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL  
 
4.1 None. 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 Risk Management will be considered by this Committee, for all areas within the 

Work Programme. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 142



 

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL  
 
 None. 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY  
 

Community Cohesion and Equalities related issues are part of the work remit for 
this Committee. 

 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS  
 
 This is a key work area for the Committee. 
 
 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 
 This is a key work area for the Committee. 
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  
 

A key area of work for the Committee will be to consider the area of those killed or 
seriously injured on roads. 

 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT  
 
 None. 
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 

 None. 
 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

Work of this Overview and Scrutiny Committee has ward implications, but this 
depends on that nature of the topic. 

 
7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
 None. 
 
7.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY ASSESSMENT 
 
 None. 
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  
 
 None. 
 
 
 

Page 143



 

9. OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The Committee may choose to add to or amend the topics included in the 2018-19 

work programme for the committee. 
 
4.2 Members may wish to consider any detailed scrutiny reviews that it may wish to 

conduct. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 That members consider and comment on the areas of work included in the work 

programme. 
 
9.2 That members consider any detailed scrutiny reviews that they may wish to 

conduct. 
 
11. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix One – 2018-19 Work Programme for the Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
Appendix Two – Unscheduled Topics. 

 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
 Council Constitution. 
 
 
 

Page 144



 Democratic Services - Overview and Scrutiny 
 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Tuesday, 3rd July 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 18/06/2018. Report deadline 21/06/2018. 
 1) CALL-IN Amendments to Off Street Parking  The Committee has been requested to  Steve Hartley/Louise  
 Places Consolidation Order 2015 consider the decision of the Executive  Willliams. 
 in light on comments from Cllr Cooke 
 2) Appointment of Co-opted Members. Nicola Hoggart - Environment Agency.  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 Julian Pearson - Bradford Environment  Woodhead. 
 Forum. 
 3) One City Park. The intention to procure a contract  Shelagh O'Neill /Tina  Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 over the £2m threshold. Parry. Economy O&S on 14 Nov 2017 - going  
 to Exec in June 2018 needs to come to  
 Scrutiny in July 2018. 
 4) £2m+ Stores Facility Contract. The function of the facility is to manage Richard Galthen/Geof  Constitutional requirement.Contract will  
  the sourcing, supply and storage of  Binnington. go out for tender as soon as O&S  
 parts and consumables for a fleet of  considers it. 
 approximately 1,600 vehicles and items 
  of plant.Contract is worht £5m over 5  
 years. 
 5) Sports Facilities Investment Plan. That an update report be presented to  Phil Barker. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 the Regeneration and Economy  Economy O&S on 25 Jul 2017. 
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee in  
 July 2018. 
 6) Update on the previous 12 month review of  That the Strategic Director, Place, be  Simon D'Vali. Recommendation from Environment &  
 the District's casualty reduction work. requested to provide an update in 12  Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
 months time to include casualty  28 March 2017. 
 performance and a financial update. 
 7) Draft 2018-19 Work Programme. Discussion and agreement over the  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 areas of work for the Committee to  Woodhead. 
 focus on in this Muncipal Year. 

 20th September 2018 Page 1 of 8 

P
age 145



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Tuesday, 18th September 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 03/09/2018. Report deadline 05/09/2018. 
 1) Food Service Plan. The Council is required by the Food  Angela Brindle. 
 Standards Agency to have a  
 documented and approved Food  
 Safety Service Plan.The Plan sets out  
 the measures the Council will  
 implement to safeguard food and drink  
 which is produced, prepared or sold  
 within the district. The plan reflects the  
 work required of food authorities by  
 the Food Standards Agency (FSA) in  
 its national Food Law Code of Practice  
 and guidance documents. 

 2) Stimulating and accelerating housing and  To include the that more detailed  Shelagh O'Neill/Andrew  Recommendation from Corporate O&S  
 economic growth - 2018-19 budget growth  information  regarding the parameters  Marshall/Lorraine Wright. from Wednesday 
18 July 2018. 
 allocation. of the £500k housing allocations be  
  considered by the Regeneration and  
 Environment Overview and  Scrutiny  
 Committee. 
 3) Housing and Homelessness Strategy. The Committee wiill receive a report on  Sarah Holmes/Richard  Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 the Housing and Homelessness  Whittacker. Economy O&S on 26 Sep 2017. 
 Strategy to include information on the  
 “No Second Night Out” service and the  
 “Bradford Cares” Campaign. 
 4) Affordable Housing. The Committee will receive a report on  Lorraine Wright. Recommendation from Regerenartion & 
 Affordable Housing.  Economy O&S on 26 Sep 2017. 
 5) Fly tipping across the District. The Committee will consider a report on Damian Fisher/Amjad  Recommendation from Environment &  
  Fly Tipping across the District including Ishaq. Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
  information on flytipping hotspots,  19 Dec 2017. 
 enforcement and awareness. 
 6) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  The Committee will consider its work  Mustansir Butt. 
 Programme. programme and make changes as  
 necessary. 

 20th September 2018 Page 2 of 8 

P
age 146



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Wednesday, 19th September 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 1) Single use plastics Scrutiny Review Information gathering session. Mustansir Butt. Council Recommendation from 16  
 January 2018. 

 Tuesday, 2nd October 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 17/09/2018. Report deadline 19/09/2018. 
 1) Waste Management Finances. Request that the Regeneration and  Steve Hartley/John Major. Corporate O&S recommendation on  
  Environment  Overview and Scrutiny
 Wednesday 18 July 2018. 
  Committee considers the approaches  
 being  used to address the overspend 
  on the area of Waste Management. 
 2) The Council's involvement in residential High  The Committee will receive a report  Justin Booth/Julie Rhodes. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 Rise Buildings following the Grenfell Tower  detailing the impact of the revised  Economy O&S on 6 Mar 2018. 
 disaster. Government legislation and any  
 additional demand on resources. 
 3) The Libraries and Museums Service The Committee will receive a report  Phil Barker/Jackie  
 detailing the future role of the services. Kitwood/Sue Rollins. 
 4) Water Management Scrutiny Review  The Committee will receive a report  Chris Eaton / Kirsty  Recommendation from Environment &  
 recommendations. monitoring the recommendations from  Breaks/Ed Norfolk. Waste Management O&S on Tuesday 4 
 the detailed scrutiny of Water   July 2017. 
 Management. 
 5) Utilisation of outdoor spaces for health  The Committee will consider a report  Sarah  Recommendation from Environment &  
 reasons. detailingg the socio economic inequality Possingham/Angela  Waset Management O&S from Tuesday 
  of access to green spaces in the  Hutton.  26 September 2017. 
 Bradford District. 
 6) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  The Committee will consider its work  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 Programme. programme and make changes as  Woodhead. 
 necessary. 

 Tuesday, 9th October 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 1) Single use plastics Scrutiny Review. Information gathering session. Mustansir Butt. Council Recommendation from 16  
 January 2018. 

 20th September 2018 Page 3 of 8 

P
age 147



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Tuesday, 23rd October 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 08/10/2018. Report deadline 10/10/2018. 
 1) City Centre Regeneration. The Committee will consider a report on Steve Hartley. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
  progress with the city centre  Economy O&S on 6 March 2018. 
 regeneration. 
 2) City Markets. The Committee will consider an update  Colin Wolstenholme. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 report on the City Markets service. Economy O&S on 6 March 2018. 
 3) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  The Committee will consider its work  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 Programme. programme and make changes as  Woodhead. 
 necessary. 

 Tuesday, 20th November 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 05/11/2018. Report deadline 07/11/2018. 
 1) West Yorkshire Combined Authority. The Committee will receive a report on  Jamie Saunders. Recommednation from Joint O&S on  
 the WYCA to include details of the  Tuesday 10 October 2017. 
 impact of the revised Government  
 legislation and any additional demand  
 on resources. 
 2) Department of Place - Performance Outturn. Steve Hartley/John  
 Major/Julian Jackson. 
 3) Waste Management. The report will also include Recycling  Steve Hartley/ Richard  
 and Trade Waste including information  Longcake. 
 on the progress of service  
 improvements, and the ability for the  
 domestic refuse service to 
 undertake certain trade waste and  
 recycling. 
 4) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  The Committee will consider its work  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 Programme. programme and make changes as  Woodhead. 
 necessary. 

 Tuesday, 27th November 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 1) Single use plastics Scrutiny Review. Information gathering session. Mustansir Butt. Council Recommednation from 16 Jan  
 2018. 

 20th September 2018 Page 4 of 8 

P
age 148



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Tuesday, 18th December 2018 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 03/12/2018. Report deadline 05/12/2018. 
 1) Bradford Civic District Heat Network. The Committee will receive a report on  Neil Morrison. Recommendation from Environment &  
 the work of Bradford Civic District Heat Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
  Network. 20 February 2018. 
 2) Rail Strategy and City Centre Stations Update. The Committee will consider a report on Julian Jackson/Richard  Recommendation from Environment &  
  the District's Rail Strategy including  Gelder. Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
 information on the City Centre Stations. 28 March 2017. 
 3) Estate Management. The Committee will receive a report on  Ben Middleton. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 the functions of Estate Management  Economy O&S on 23 Jan 2018. 
 Service. 
 4) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  The Committee will consider its work  Mustansir Butt/Lica  
 Programme. programme and make changes as  Woodhead. 
 necessary. 

 Tuesday, 22nd January 2019 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 07/01/2019. Report deadline 09/01/2019. 
 1) West Yorkshire LTP3 Implementation Plan. The Committee will receive a report on  Richard Gelder/Julian  Recommendation from Environment &  
 the devlopment of the first five year  Jackson. Waste Management O&S on Tuesday   
 implementation plan of the replacement  20 February 2018. 
 Transport strategy and its delivery. 

 2) Budget Setting for the Department of Place. The Committee will receive a report on  Steve Hartley. 
 Budget proposals apertaining to the  
 Department of Place. 
 3) Street Lighting. The Committee will receive a report on  Allun Preece/Richard  Recommendation from Environment &  
 the Street Lighting Strategy. Gelder/Julian Jackson. Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
 23 January 2018. 
 4) Carbon Strategy for the District 2020-2050. The Committee will receive a report on  Neil Morrison/Jamie  Recommendation from Environment &  
 the Council's Carbon Strategy. Saunders. Waste Management O&S on Tuesday   
 27 March 2018. 
 5) Draft Single use plastics Scrutiny Review  Key findings and recommendations  Mustansir Butt. Council Recommendation from 16  
 Report. from the Scrutiny Review. January 2018. 

 20th September 2018 Page 5 of 8 

P
age 149



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Tuesday, 22nd January 2019 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 07/01/2019. Report deadline 09/01/2019. 
 6) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  The Committee will consider its work  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 Programme. programme and make changes as  Woodhead. 
 necessary. 

 Tuesday, 26th February 2019 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 11/02/2019. Report deadline 13/02/2019. 
 1) Regeneration in Keighley & Shipley. The Committee will receive a report on  Steve Hartley/Julian  Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 the key regeneration issues in Keighley Jackson. Economy O&S on 20 February 2018. 
  and Shipley including progress made  
 by the Joint Venture Company on the  
 Canal Rd Corridor Urban Village. 
 2) Get Bradford Working / Skills for Work. The Committee will receive a report  Phil Hunter. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 updating Members on the Get Bradford  Economy O&S on 13 March 2018. 
 Working and Skills for Work  
 programmes, to include the tracking of  
 outcomes for at least twelve months of 
  those people who gain employment as 
  a result of the Get Bradford Working ini 
 3) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  The Committee will consider its work  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 Programme. programme and make changes as  Woodhead. 
 necessary. 

 Tuesday, 26th March 2019 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 11/03/2019. Report deadline 13/03/2019. 
 1) Housing Standards. The Committee will consider a report on Julie Rhodes. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
  the work of the Housing Standards  Economy O&S from 20 February 2018. 
 Team to include details of the impact of  
 the New Legislation. 
 2) Empty Homes. The Committee will consider a report on Julie Rhodes. Recommendation from Regereration &  
  the work of the Empty Homes Team. Economy O&S on 20 February 2018. 
 3) Energy Efficiency of Private Sector rented  The Committee will consider a report on Julie Rhodes/Pete Betts. Recommendation from Environment &  
 Housing.  energy efficiency in private rented  Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
 sector accomodation.. 27 March 2018. 
 20th September 2018 Page 6 of 8 

P
age 150



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Tuesday, 26th March 2019 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 11/03/2019. Report deadline 13/03/2019. 
 4) White Rose Energy. The Committee will receive an update  Neill Morrison. Recommendation from Environment &  
 report on the work of White Rose  Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
 Energy. 27 Mar 2018. 
 5) Biodiversity Scrutiny Review. The Committee will receive a report  Danny Jackson. Recommendation from Environment &  
 monitoring the recommendations from  Waste Management O&S on Tuesday  
 the detailed scrutiny of Biodiversity. 17 April 2018. 
 6) Regeneration and Environment O&S Work  Members will consider the 2018-19  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 Programme. work programme and make changes  Woodhead. 
 as appropriate. 

 Tuesday, 16th April 2019 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 01/04/2019. Report deadline 03/04/2019. 
 1) Bradford Beck Pilot Study. The Committee will receive a report  Chris Eaton/Edward  Recommendation from Environment &  
 from the Friends of Bradford's Becks. Norfolk/Barney Lerner. Waste Management O&S from Tuesday 
   17 April 2018. 
 2) Bradford District Cycling Strategy. That the Strategic Director, Place, be  Julian Jackson/Andrew  Recommendation from Environment &  
 requested to provide a progress  Marshall/Bhupinder Dev. Waste Management O&S from Tuesday 
 report, in 12 months time, on the    21 November 2017. 
 implementation of the Bradford District  
 Cycle Strategy and Action Plan Top  
 Ten priorities, and provide figures  
 relating to accidents to cyclists. 
 3) Active Bradford. The Committee will receive a report on  Zuby Hamard. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 Active Bradford to include an update  Economy O&S on 10 April 2018. 
 on the Active Bradford Strategy and  
 the pilot scheme, the development of  
 the Sports Leisure Card and details of  
 the Olympic legacy. 
 4) Cultural Strategy. The Committee will receive a report on  Bobsie Robinson. Recommendation from Regeneration &  
 the Cultural Strategy. Economy O&S on 10 April 2018. 

 20th September 2018 Page 7 of 8 

P
age 151



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Licia / Mus tel - 2119/2574 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Tuesday, 16th April 2019 at City Hall, Bradford. 
 Chair's briefing 01/04/2019. Report deadline 03/04/2019. 
 5) Resolution Tracking. Monitoring the progress of  Mustansir Butt/Licia  
 recommendations made by the  Woodhead. 
 Regeneration and Environment  
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 20th September 2018 Page 8 of 8 

P
age 152



 Democratic Services - Overview and Scrutiny 
 Scrutiny Committees Forward Plan 
 Unscheduled Items 
 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Agenda item Item description Author Comments 
 1 St George's Hall. Phil Barker Discussed at DMT 11 July 2018 - Electronic 
Breifing 
  in Oct 2018.  Arrange visit for end of Nov 2018. 

 2 The District's Casualty Reduction  An independent review is being carried out with regard to shared services.  This should be completed  Simon D'Vali Discussed at meeting on 
Tuesday 3 July 2018. 
 work. by December 

 3 Economic Growth Strategy Delivery  NOV / DEC - Shelagh to clarify Shelagh O'Neill Recommendation 
from Regeneration & Economy  
 Plan. O&S on 25 Jul 2017. 

 4 National Science and Media Museum. That a further progress report be submitted to the Committee in twelve months 
time. Jo Quinton-Tulloch Recommendation from Regeneration & Economy  
 O&S on 13 Mar 2018 - Electronic Briefing. 

 5 Council owned land. That the Strategic Director, Regeneration, be rquested to make available a register of areas of Council Ben Middlton Request from Cllr Brendan 
Stubbs - Electronic  
  owned neglected land across the District, on a ward basis and report back to the Committee. Briefing. 

 6 Environment Agency Annual Report. That a progress report be provided in 12 months, on the work undertaken in 
the District. Nicola Hoggart Recommendation from Environment & Waste Mangt  
 O&S from Tuesday 26 Sept 2017 - Electronic 
Briefing. 

 7 Bradford Environment Forum. That a further report be provided to update the Committee on the work undertaken in 2017-18. Julia Pearson Recommendation from Environment & Waste 
Mangt  
 O&S from Tuesday 26 Sep 2017 - Electronic 
Briefing. 

 8 Air Quality - Scrutiny Review. That the Draft Terms of Reference be adopted. Mustansir Butt. Terms of Reference agreed by Environment & 
Waste  
 Mangt O&S on Tuesday 27 March 2018. 

P
age 153



 9 Flushables project. Project being undertaken by Young People.  Members were very keen to disucss the findings from this  Request from Cllr Sunderland - Mustansir To liase  
 project. with Cllr Sunderland. 

 Page 1 of 2 

P
age 154



 Regeneration and Environment O&S Committee 
 Agenda item Item description Author Comments 
 10 Top of Town Masterplan. Clare Wilkinson The tender for the master plan project will go out  
 shortly.  The deadline for completion of the plan is  
 March next year.Schedule for June 2019 

 11 Housing and Homelessness & Rough She;lagh O'Neill/Yusuf  Recommendation from Regeneration & 
Environment  
  Sleeping Strategies. Karolia. O&S on Tuesday 18 September 2018. 

 12 Stimulating and Accelarating  Report to focus on the use of the £500,000 of revenue funding, to be considered in the next Municipal  Shelagh O'Neill/Lorraine  Recommendation 
from Regeneration & Environment  
 Housing and Economic Growth. Year. Wright. O&S on Tuesday 19 Sept 2018. 

 13 Flyt Tipping in the Bradford District. Progress to be reported in 12 months. Damian Fisher/Amjad 
Regeneration and Environment O&S recommendation 
 Ishaq.Stuart Russo.  from Tuesday 19 Sept 2018. P

age 155



 Page 2 of 2 

P
age 156


	Agenda
	6 IMPROVING HEALTH AND WELLBEING THROUGH GREEN SPACE AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE
	7 WATER MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY REVIEW- PROGRESS OF RECOMMENDATIONS
	REC2OctDoc M App1
	7 WATER MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY REVIEW
	28 Oct Doc L Appendix 1


	REC2OctDoc M App2

	8 IMPACT OF CHANGES TO THE LIBRARY SERVICE OVER THE PAST TWO YEARS AND ROLE OF MUSEUMS & LIBRARIES IN BRADFORD'S COMMUNITIES
	REC2OctDoc N App1
	REC2OctDoc N App2
	REC2OctDoc N App3
	REC2OctDoc N App4
	REC2OctDoc N App5
	REC2OctDoc N App6
	REC2OctDoc N App7
	REC2OctDoc N App8

	9 UPDATE ON THE COUNCIL'S INVOLVEMENT IN RESIDENTIAL HIGH RISE BUILDINGS FOLLOWING THE GRENFELL TOWER DISASTER
	10 WASTE MANAGEMENT FINANCES
	11 REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROGRAMME 2018-19
	REC2OctDoc Q App1
	REC2OctDoc Q App2




